Review of bystander approaches in support of preventing violence against women

Preventing violence against women by increasing participation in respectful relationships



© Copyright Victorian Health Promotion Foundation 2011

Published in May 2011 by the Victorian Health Promotion Foundation (VicHealth) Carlton, Victoria, Australia

ISBN: 978-1-921822-18-6

Publication Number: P-052-V_B

Review of bystander approaches in support of preventing violence against women

Dr Anastasia Powell
School of Social Sciences, La Trobe University

May 2011





Contents

1. Introduction	4
1.1. Aim of the review	7
1.2 Scope of the review and terminology used	7
2. Bystander approaches: Theoretical origins	12
2.1 Social psychology	
3. From theory to practice models	18
3.1 Translating bystander theory to the prevention of violence against women	21
4. Review of existing bystander program resources	36
4.1 Effective practice examples	39 42
5. Measuring the impact of bystander approaches	44
5.1 Potential measurement scales and survey instruments	
6. Summary and implications	47
7. Next steps	49
Appendix 1: List of search terms used	50
Appendix 2: List of bystander programs and resources	52
Appendix 3: Example bystander surveys/scales	55
Bibliography	56

1. Introduction

There has been a significant focus within recent Australian government and policy debates on the role of primary prevention to address violence against women; in particular, sexual and intimate partner violence. In 2007 VicHealth published Preventing violence before it occurs: A framework and background paper to quide the primary prevention of violence against women in Victoria (VicHealth 2007). Drawing on an international evidence-base, this document set out the conceptual framework for the prevention of violence against women (henceforth referred to as the 'VicHealth framework') as well as the strategic directions and priority actions for state government policy. In particular, the VicHealth framework identified the social determinants of violence against women - such as unequal power relations between women and men, and social norms that reinforce this - and provided a roadmap for program and policy activity to address these determinants effectively. In 2009 the then State Government of Victoria launched A Right to Respect: Victoria's Plan to Prevent Violence Against Women 2010–2020 (State Government of Victoria 2009). This 10-year plan set out a statewide strategy to enable the primary prevention of violence against women across settings and communities. At the federal level, in 2009 the Australian government released Time for Action, the National Council's Plan for Australia to Reduce Violence Against Women and their Children (National Council to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children 2009b). Time for Action proposed a 12-year national strategy for primary prevention and also further reform of the response and intervention systems for family violence and sexual assault. In 2011 the Council of Australian Governments launched the National Plan to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children to drive activity in six outcome areas, including primary prevention and respectful relationships (Commonwealth of Australia 2011).

Together these documents provide a high-level framework for the prevention of violence against women by identifying effective and promising strategies, priority areas, as well as population groups and sites. In turn, this local focus on preventing violence against women draws on a global context in which the United Nations (e.g. Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women) and the World Health Organization (WHO 2002; 2004) have provided significant leadership as well as specific guidance on how to 'do' prevention work (see WHO 2004).

Tertiary responses to violence against women, such as legal penalties for perpetrators and support services for victims, continue to play a crucial role in society's overall response to violence against women. However, in the context of continuing rates of victimisation and low reporting of violence to

police, such responses are not in of themselves enough to stop violence against women continuing to occur. For example, in the most recent Australian Personal Safety Survey, 40 per cent of women reported experiencing at least one incident of physical or sexual violence since the age of 15, and while men who experience violence are most likely to be assaulted by a stranger, women continue to be most likely assaulted by a current or former partner or family member (Australian Bureau of Statistics 2006). These findings reflect those in earlier research which indicated that more than a third of Australian women surveyed have experienced some form of physical or sexual violence during their lifetime, most often at the hands of a current or former intimate partner (Mouzos & Makkai 2004; Australian Bureau of Statistics 1996). Moreover, such research also indicates that approximately 80 per cent never report their experience of violence to police (Mouzos & Makkai 2004; Australian Bureau of Statistics 1996).

In addition to the direct impacts of violence on women, children and families, there are also serious social costs of violence against women for the broader Australian community. For example, research commissioned by VicHealth (2004) found that domestic violence is the leading contributor to death, disability and illness in Victorian women aged 15 to 44 years, contributing more to ill-health than other risk factors such as smoking and obesity. Furthermore, the annual cost of domestic violence to the Australian economy has been estimated to be \$13.6 billion including: health-related costs, lost productivity, legal system expenditure, provision of emergency accommodation and other costs (National Council to Reduce Violence Against Women and Their Children 2009a). In sum, the problem of violence against women is far too prevalent and its effects on individuals and communities far too serious to limit responses to those taking place only after violence has occurred (WHO 2002).

Crucially, what the VicHealth framework provides is a collation of research demonstrating not only that violence against women is preventable, but that there is growing evidence to support a spectrum of prevention strategies across the range of determinants and factors contributing to violence, as well as across a range of population groups and settings or sites of intervention (VicHealth 2007). Unequal gender relations underscore the key determinants of violence identified by the VicHealth prevention framework as well as norms condoning or promoting violence, including:

• *individual/relationship determinants* (such as individuals' beliefs in rigid gender roles, and attitudinal support for violence against women)

- community/organisational determinants (such as culturally-specific gender norms, and male peer and/or organisational cultures which are violence-supportive or provide weak sanctions against violence)
- societal determinants (such as institutional practices and widespread cultural norms providing support for, or weak sanctions against, violence against women).

One area that is identified in the VicHealth framework is the potential role of bystanders in the prevention of violence against women. For example, the framework repeatedly identifies at the community and societal levels 'weak sanctions against violence' and 'social norms supporting violence', as well specific peer and organisational cultures that may be violence-supportive. In addition, the framework identifies the need to engage more effectively with men to prevent violence against women, and there is growing evidence to suggest that engaging men as bystanders to violence (rather than only as potential perpetrators) may be a useful approach (Dyson & Flood, 2008).

Indeed, the role of bystanders in the prevention of violence generally is consistently of interest within the national and international research literature. The conditions impacting upon the likelihood that an individual witnessing a crime will take action to intervene in order to prevent harm to another person have long been of interest within the fields of crime and violence prevention generally. More recently, however, understanding of such bystander behaviours have begun to be translated and applied in the specific field of preventing violence against women. While there are a growing number of programs within both the sexual and intimate partner violence fields that seek to support bystander action to prevent violence against women, much of this work is not rigorously evaluated. Indeed, at present, the evidence regarding bystander approaches for the prevention of violence against women is continuing to be developed, and program details and evaluations are not systematically published and therefore rarely subject to analytical scrutiny.

Much of the work undertaken in the field of violence against women is interdisciplinary, drawn from a range of academic disciplines including: criminology, psychology, sociology and gender studies. As such, there is reasonably little literature surveying the broad scope of bystander approaches to prevent violence against women, and very little that includes analysis of the range of theoretical underpinnings as well as the practical issues that inform bystander approaches in this field.

1.1. Aim of the review

This review aims to address this gap in the literature in order to draw together the evidence from across disciplinary boundaries to inform bystander approaches for the prevention of violence against women in Victoria.

As such, this review will:

- Describe the origins, underlying theory and program application of bystander approaches or
 initiatives (based on a comprehensive national and international literature review), including
 review of evaluations of initiatives and resources supporting bystander action where these
 exist.
- Review and evaluate research relevant to implementation considerations, including research
 on organisational readiness to implement such approaches and survey results exploring
 community attitudes towards playing an active role in prevention activity.
- Identify and provide recommendations regarding the utility of existing resources designed to
 facilitate bystander responses in Victoria, across a range of priority settings (identified by
 VicHealth's evidence-based frameworks as priorities for the prevention of violence against
 women).
- Identify the place of bystander approaches in an evidence-informed approach to primary prevention practice in the area of violence against women and barriers and facilitators to their application.
- Provide advice on future activities (including resource development) that could be undertaken to support bystander action in the Victoria context.

In so doing, this review contributes to an ongoing body of work undertaken by the VicHealth to support the primary prevention of violence against women in Victoria.

1.2 Scope of the review and terminology used

The scope and focus of this review is on bystander approaches for the *primary* prevention of violence against women. However the majority of current research and scholarship in relation to bystanders is concerned predominantly with explaining individuals' intervention or non-intervention at the time of a specific violent or emergency 'incident'. As such, this review has drawn heavily upon this scholarship as will be detailed in the coming sections along with practice/applied examples.

Nonetheless, this review is also informed by a broader scope of interest in examining the knowledge, practice and experience of applying bystander approaches that can function across multiple levels of primary prevention work (e.g. individual, community/organisational and societal levels).

In undertaking a comprehensive review of the relevant literature, it became clear that various fields and disciplines understand and use these (and other) terminologies in different ways. As such, it is useful to outline the terminology as it has been used throughout this review in particular, as well as applied examples of how the term 'bystander' can be understood within the scope of this review.

1.2.1 Bystander

Simply put, a *bystander* is somebody who observes an act of violence, discrimination or other unacceptable or offensive behaviour. Within crime prevention and much psychological research, the terms 'active' and/or 'pro-social' bystander are commonly used to refer to the individual who takes action to intervene in response to the observed incident. By contrast, 'passive' bystander refers to individuals who observe an unacceptable or offensive behaviour and fail to act or intervene.

Bystander action, then, refers to actions taken by a person or persons not directly involved as a subject or perpetrator of violence against women to identify, speak out about or seek to engage others in responding to: specific incidents of violence; and/or behaviours, attitudes, practices or policies that contribute to violence.

Bystander action can have different objectives, and can be distinguished on the basis of whether the action affects the 'primary', 'secondary' or 'tertiary' prevention of violence against women. While some forms of bystander action are intended to intervene in actual violent incidents or actions, others are intended to challenge the social norms and attitudes that perpetuate violence in the community.

Stopping the perpetration of a specific incident of violence

For example, at the individual level, this involves reporting an incident of violence to police or an appropriate authority, or taking other action to intervene where it is safe to do so. At the organisational or community level, it can be encouraging staff/members to report incidents of violence and/or harassment and having clear policies in place for responding to specific incidents.

A man pushes and then slaps a woman at the Student Center. People are upset but don't do anything. You do not know either person well.

What do you do?

(from: *Bringing in the Bystander*; see section 4.1.1)

This bystander action aligns with 'tertiary' prevention because it aims to mitigate the long-term effects of existing violence.

Reducing the risk of violence escalating, and preventing the physical, psychological and social harms that may result

For example, at the individual level, this can be responding appropriately to an individual's disclosure of experiencing violence by believing them and supporting them to contact an appropriate service and/or to report their experience.

Similarly, individual bystander action might involve confronting a perpetrator of violence about their recent behaviour and encouraging them to seek assistance to change. Alternately, it might involve intervening in a high-risk situation in order to prevent the risk of violence occurring. At the organisational

You're at a party, and when you walk outside, you see a friend of yours trying to get a drunk young woman to leave with him. She's not just buzzed; she's stumbling over her own feet. You know the young woman, and she seems reluctant.

What do you do?

(from: *Mentors in Violence Prevention*; see section 4.1.3)

and/or community level it might involve having flexible work policies and additional leave provisions for staff experiencing violence, or making referral information available to staff/members who may be experiencing violence.

This bystander action aligns with 'secondary' prevention because it aims to intervene in existing violence, provide a supportive response or to prevent recurrence.

A close female friend calls you crying. You ask her what has happened and she says that something happened at a party at a friend's house the night before. She reluctantly tells you that she woke up in the night to find a naked man on top of her. She is afraid to tell anyone because she had stayed at her friend's house, being too drunk to make it home, and believes she is at fault.

What do you do?

(adapted from: Bringing in the Bystander; see section 4.1.1)

Strengthening the conditions that work against violence occurring

For example, at the individual level, this can mean challenging peers' and/or colleagues' sexist remarks or jokes that normalise or condone violence against women. At the organisational and/or community level, it can be challenging workplace or other organisational

You are in the dorm hanging out with some people from your floor. You are in a group conversation when one of them starts referring to women as 'hoes' and 'bitches'. You know he really doesn't mean it literally but others look uncomfortable with the language as they don't know him as well.

What do you do?

(from: Step Up; see section 4.2.2)

cultures and practices that marginalise women. And at the societal level, challenging social norms that sustain gender inequality and condone violence against women.

This form of bystander action aligns with 'primary' prevention because it aims to stop violence before it starts. It aims to address the underlying social determinants of violence and to create equal and respectful relationships.

1.2.2 Violence against women

Consistent with work undertaken by VicHealth and the Victorian government policy context, the term 'violence against women' is used throughout this review to refer to the range of violence that is perpetrated largely (though not exclusively) by men against women, including: intimate partner violence, sexual violence (whether occurring in the context of an intimate or family relationship, another known person or a stranger), and sexual harassment (whether occurring in the workplace or in other contexts). Intimate partner violence (also commonly referred to as 'domestic' or 'family' violence) includes physical, sexual, economic, social and emotional forms of abuse, as well as fear of violence (State Government of Victoria 2008; National Council to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children 2009b). While the term 'violence against women' has been used to refer to the broad field in which much prevention work occurs, the specific terms 'intimate partner violence', 'sexual violence' and 'sexual harassment' have been used where appropriate to describe the activities of specific programs and/or interventions.

1.2.3 Victim and perpetrator

The term 'victim' has been used throughout this review to refer primarily to women who experience violence. There are significant and ongoing debates over the use of the word 'victim', with many women including those in the sexual assault service sector preferring to use the word 'survivor' or the dual term 'victim/survivor'. However this review has, for consistency, used the term 'victim'. Likewise, for the purposes of this review the word 'perpetrator' has been used to refer to those men who engage in violence against women. These terms are used in this way because together they more accurately reflect the gendered nature of sexual violence and the seriousness of the harms that women experience, most commonly, at the hands of men. It is also the language adopted throughout much Australian public policy and as such provides a level of consistency with the terminology referred to broadly in the field (see Powell 2010).

1.2.4 'Hate crime' and 'heterosexist' motivated violence

The term 'hate crime' is widely used within much public policy and debate to refer to violence and abuse directed at particular minority groups, most commonly attributed to racial and homophobic-motivated violence. Hate crime or violence directed at individuals in response to their (actual or perceived) sexuality has in recent years been variously included in work towards the prevention of violence against women. Partly, this inclusion recognises the violence perpetrated against lesbian and transgender women in relation to their sexuality, but it also recognises that there are connections between the sexism that contributes to violence against women and the *heterosexism* that contributes to violence against both lesbians and gay men. While it is not within the scope of this review to consider the wide range of literature regarding such hate crime or heterosexist-motivated violence, there is nonetheless enough crossover between this field and violence against women to include some reference to this issue where it has arisen in specific bystander approaches reviewed.

1.2.5 Prevention and primary prevention

Consistent with a public health framework, a key concern of VicHealth's work in recent years has been the *primary* prevention of violence against women. Throughout this review the term 'primary prevention' is therefore used to refer to strategies that target the underlying causes of violence against women *before it occurs* (VicHealth 2007). Primary prevention as a category is generally used to make a distinction between both secondary prevention that targets 'at risk' populations and tertiary prevention that responds to past victims or perpetrators of violence to prevent future occurrences (Carmody et al. 2009; VicHealth 2007).

As noted by VicHealth and others (VicHealth 2007:9; Sutton et al. 2008) it is not always possible to draw clear boundaries around these three levels of prevention. Nonetheless, throughout this review an attempt has been made to differentiate between program approaches that are directed towards primary, secondary and tertiary prevention, and this is reflected where appropriate in the terminology used. It is also important to note that each of these levels of prevention is most effective as part of an overall strategy across the whole spectrum of prevention approaches and each can, in fact, be mutually reinforcing. For instance, the effectiveness of doing primary prevention will be limited if the broader legal system and other social institutions don't also take violence against seriously, such as by providing strong sanctions against violence and support for victims to report violence and seek assistance.

2. Bystander approaches: Theoretical origins

Much of the earliest academic research theorising bystander action/inaction in response to acts of violence occurred after the Second World War and in the wake of the Holocaust. Worldwide, researchers were anxious to explain the altruistic actions of so-called 'rescuers' as well as the widespread failure of individuals to intervene to prevent the perpetration of gross inhumanities including genocidal violence and persecution. The concern, particularly for psychologists in this field, has been to further our understanding of how such events occur and how people act in the ways they do, so as to prevent future genocidal violence and ethnic hostility (see Suedfeld 2000).

Some of the most striking research findings in relation to bystanders from this period are those identifying the prevalence of individuals' conformity to peer-group norms and pressures (e.g. Asch 1956; Schachter 1951) and obedience to perceived authority or leadership (Kelman 1958; French & Raven 1959; Bandura 1973; Milgram 1974). Similarly, the positive influence of group norms is thought to play a role in the proactive behaviour of 'rescuers'; those who do take steps to intervene are often conforming with the proactive norms of a particular group or community to which they belong (see Suedfeld 2000).

By the 1960s and throughout the 1970s the focus of much US research turned to issues closer to home and was influenced by a number of high-profile cases of bystander failure to intervene. Perhaps the most famous of these was the case of 'Kitty Genovese'. Catherine (Kitty) Genovese was raped and murdered on March 13, 1964, outside of her Queens (New York, US) apartment, where it is alleged 38 neighbours witnessed or overheard the attack, but failed to call the police or intervene to prevent the murder (Rosenthal, 1964). This and other similar cases sparked a further wave of research seeking to explain the passive response of bystanders to a violent crime, spanning several academic disciplines, but perhaps most notably, social psychology and criminology. In brief:

- Social psychology: has been concerned with explaining the factors influencing an individual
 bystander's decision to respond to an incident. As a field, then, it has been focused on the
 individual attitudes, motivations, reasoning and contextual factors that can determine
 whether or not an individual will act in a given situation (e.g. primarily at the
 individual/relationship level).
- Criminology: while similarly often concerned with the motivations of individual offenders,
 has also taken seriously the role of communities and society more broadly (e.g. across the
 individual/relationship, community/organisational and societal levels).

2.1 Social psychology

There is a plethora of theorising and research within social psychology that is concerned with the actions (and inactions) of bystanders to crime, violence and other 'emergency' situations. While it is not possible to fully encompass this body of work in this review, there are several theories that have arguably been influential in the development of programs to promote bystander action: in particular, the concept of 'diffusion of responsibility', the 'theory of planned behaviour' and more broadly 'social norm' theories. The following section will briefly review each of these in turn.

2.1.1 Diffusion of responsibility

The concept of 'diffusion of responsibility' has been used within psychology as well as in other disciplines, notably in the crime prevention field, to explain why it is that individuals might be less likely to offer assistance or intervene to prevent a crime in a group setting. For example, Darley and Latané's original (1968) study theorised that in group settings, the responsibility for intervening was diffused among the bystanders, such that individuals were less likely to feel responsible for taking action, and were more likely to think that somebody else may intervene or had already called for help. In testing the concept it was found that in a situation of a medical emergency, the presence of other bystanders did indeed make it less likely that individuals would feel responsible and take action to render assistance (Darley & Latané 1968; Latané & Darley 1970).

Ongoing research into this apparent trend in 'non-responsive' bystanders, has led to a focus on the factors or situations where individuals are more likely to intervene or, in other words, to act as a 'prosocial' bystander. Indeed, much research has described the process through which an individual decides whether to act as a prosocial bystander (see Dovidio et al. 2006; Clarke 2003 for a review). For example, after noticing what is happening, a bystander must decide whether the incident is a problem where intervention is needed; whether they should take individual responsibility; what specific actions to take; and be confident that they have the skills or capacity to take action safely (see Figure 1 below).

Figure 1 Latané & Darley's (1970) five-stage model



In their book on the social psychology of prosocial behaviour, Dovidio and colleagues (2006) highlight that these varying factors are perhaps best understood across micro (individual), meso (interpersonal or organisational factors) and macro (societal) levels of analysis. At the micro/individual level for instance, an altruistic personality or past experience or observation of other people's helping behaviour might make some bystanders more likely to decide what specific actions to take and to feel confident that they have the skills to intervene effectively and safely. Meanwhile, at the meso/interpersonal level the diffusion of responsibility through the presence of others may impact upon the likelihood that an individual will decide that they need to take personal responsibility to intervene. Finally, at the macro/societal level social norms may direct an individual to label some incidents as requiring intervention and not others. For example, in addition to the 'diffusion of responsibility' some research suggests that groups or communities that have developed a consensus around helping behaviours are more likely to promote individual intervention; '...if the degree of consensus to help is strong enough, people will be more helpful when in the presence of others' (Harada 1985: 178).

2.1.2 Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB)

Social psychologists have, for many years, observed that attitudes (even 'prosocial' attitudes) do not necessarily predict behaviour. As such, theoretical models have been developed which attempt to better take into account the additional factors contributing to bystander behaviour, such as social norms as well as an individual's behavioural intentions. The Theory of Planned Behaviour (or TPB) similarly seeks to take into account a range of factors determining behaviour, including: an individual's attitudes and beliefs, social norms, an individual's subjective perception of social norms, perceived behavioural control (which refers to an individual's perception of the potential constraints on their action) and, finally, individual intentions to act (Fishbein & Ajzen 1975; 2010; see Armitage & Conner 2001). Meta-analyses within social psychology regarding TPB indicate that it is a useful theoretical model for predicting behaviour and behavioural intentions (see Armitage & Conner 2001). Indeed, TPB has been widely referenced within the sexual health field as a model for predicting intended and actual condom use and other safe sex practices.

It follows, according to TPB and the model proposed by Darley and Latane, that in order to be most effective, bystander programs seeking to prevent violence against women would need to address each aspect of the theorised contributions to behaviour. In other words, programs attempting to encourage active bystander behaviours would ideally seek to effect change in: individual attitudes and beliefs condoning violence against women; perceptions of the broader social norms condoning violence against women; perception of an individual's capacity to act to prevent violence against women; and intention to behave or act in various ways in response to violence against women, and/or others' expressions of violence-supportive attitudes and behaviours.

2.1.3 Social norm theories

Both the research into prosocial bystander behaviours and TPB highlight the importance of individual attitudes and skills or capacity in the likelihood that they will intervene. However, these theories also place a strong emphasis on the influence of broader social norms (or widely held beliefs about acceptable behaviour) on bystander intervention. Social norm theories highlight the ways that the majority culture or normative environment can support beliefs and attitudes held by an individual (Dyson & Flood 2008).

For example, Berkowitz and Daniels (1963) suggested that a *social responsibility norm* may be important in understanding bystander behaviour. This norm of social responsibility causes individuals to feel a shared responsibility towards helping others in need. Nonetheless, as noted by

Clarke (2003), not everyone does intervene to help others, therefore there are likely other factors interacting with a general social responsibility norm. For instance, in some situations an individual may be faced with competing norms. Such may be the case in witnessing an incident of violence against women where the social responsibility norm may be in conflict with a 'mind your own business' norm (Clarke 2003) or other social norms condoning violence against women. Alternately, it may be that the social responsibility norm is too general, leaving individuals uncertain of how to translate the norm into action in a specific situation (Clarke 2003).

Social norms theory also suggests that individuals may be negatively influenced by their *misperceptions* of how others in a broad social group may think or act (Berkowitz 2003; Fabiano et al. 2000). In this case, correcting the inaccurate perception of broader social norms may decrease the likelihood an individual will engage in a problematic behaviour, as well as increase their willingness to intervene as an active bystander. Kilmartin and colleagues (1999: 265) go further to suggest that in preventing sexual violence, addressing social norms in this way must focus on both the societal and community or peer level; finding that "a public information campaign was effective in correcting men's misperceptions of global norms in rape supportive and sexist attitudes of average men, but that men's misperceptions of close friends were virtually unaffected by the intervention".

This finding is consistent with the ecological approach adopted in the VicHealth framework in that it highlights the need for multi-level, mutually reinforcing strategies for prevention. In order to affect social norms and inequalities at multiple levels, prevention strategies must be applied across the individual, community (including organisational and peer contexts) and societal levels (VicHealth 2007).

2.2 Criminology

Criminological theories have been broadly applied in the context of crime prevention both in Australia and internationally. There are two highly influential theories which have potential relevance to the issue of bystander interventions. These are Routine Activity Theory (RAT) and Rational Choice Theory (RCT). Both theories are closely linked with specific crime prevention strategies including social crime prevention as well as crime prevention through environmental design (CPTED). Certainly social crime prevention has been directly drawn upon in the prevention of violence against women, as will be discussed further in the following sections.

2.2.1 Routine Activity Theory

Developed by Cohen and Felson (1979), Routine Activity Theory suggests that there are three elements required for the commission of a crime: a target/victim, a motivated offender and the absence of capable guardianship. In practice, the theory (and indeed Felson himself) has tended to place greater emphasis on the target and guardianship issues. While such an approach appears practical for many lower-order crimes such as theft and property offences (where the target is an object belonging to someone capable of guarding it), the theory has received much criticism in the violence against women field, on the basis that it is not appropriate to suggest that women should bear the responsibility of protecting themselves from sexual or intimate partner violence. Instead, consistent with social crime prevention approaches, it is argued society should make a concerted effort to change the (primarily male) motivated offender and to strengthen the role of everyday 'guardians' (peers, parents, employers, teachers) who might impact the motivations of a potential offender (Sutton et al. 2008). Indeed, while coming from a different theoretical basis, this approach is not too dissimilar from the WHO (2002) public health framework, as well as the VicHealth prevention framework (VicHealth 2007), both of which emphasise the need to take action across all levels, including changing environmental, institutional and social factors.

2.2.2 Rational Choice Theory

Rational Choice Theory, meanwhile, focuses on the micro/individual factors that contribute to an offender's decision towards crime (Sutton et al. 2008). In particular, the theory is based on the 'rational offender' model; that is, that an offender make a rational decision based on weighing up the risks versus the benefits of committing a particular crime (Sutton et al. 2008). According to this model, in order to prevent crime, strategies should seek to increase the risks and reduce the rewards for criminal behaviours. In practice this has often been largely applied to theft and other property offences through 'target hardening' and surveillance which increase the risk of detection. However, in principle, it could also be applied in relation to violence against women prevention, by both increasing the risks of being reported and charged, but also taking into account the *social normative* risks and rewards for violent behaviours.

3. From theory to practice models

In their review of bystander approaches to preventing violence against women, Banyard and colleagues (2004: 69) note that "the research literature focuses much more on explaining and describing bystander behaviour than on developing effective interventions to promote it". In addition, where bystander interventions are discussed, it is most commonly in reference to encouraging bystanders to intervene in the moment or after witnessing a specific violent incident occurring, rather than intervening in social norms or other conditions that perpetuate violence. Nonetheless, there is an emerging literature base within the field of violence against women prevention, which attempts to translate bystander theories into practical interventions to prevent sexual and intimate partner violence against women. This section will review adaptations of bystander theory in the specific context of violence against women, and the 'promising practice' models emerging in this field.

3.1 Translating bystander theory to the prevention of violence against women

Thus far, much of the theoretical work reviewed regarding bystanders to crime and violence has focused on interventions 'in the moment' of a violent incident. Within the field of violence against women however, the concept of bystander interventions or the 'prosocial' bystander has been expanded to consider individual's actions 'upstream' or before violence has occurred. This focus is more representative of *primary* prevention and includes attention to the role of societal and community-level social norms and support for violence over non-violence, consistent with the VicHealth prevention framework. There are a number of ways in which theories have sought to operationalise this focus, expanding on the theoretical models reviewed thus far to apply to the specific issues of sexual and intimate partner violence against women. Perhaps the most widely cited of these in the primary prevention literature, including in the VicHealth prevention framework, are: individual's beliefs in rigid gender roles, peer-based social norms (including male peer support or masculine peer and organisational cultures), as well as societal-level cultural norms and institutional support, or weak sanctions against gender inequality and violence.

3.1.1 Individual beliefs in rigid gender roles

While much early work to prevent violence against women has focused on women as potential victims of sexual and intimate partner violence, more recently researchers have highlighted the need

to effectively target prevention messages towards men. Of particular concern is the status or value placed within many communities, and Western society more broadly, on aggressive demonstrations of masculinity. As such attributes including toughness, aggression, independence and heterosexual conquest are often positively valued for men, therefore they provide implicit support for violence against women. For example, as discussed in the VicHealth prevention framework, research has consistently found that individual men who hold traditional views about gender roles, have a rigid belief in male dominance, or hold sexually hostile attitudes about women are more likely to perpetrate violence (see VicHealth 2007: 34).

Bystander approaches to the prevention of violence against women, then, have also variously highlighted the relationship between rigid gender roles and violence, and the importance of working with men to challenge the implicit norms of masculinity condoning violence against women and which therefore may also prevent men's intervention as active bystanders. For example, research by Carlson (2008: 3) found that male "bystanders [to sexual assault] were more afraid of their masculinity being called into question...", calling attention to the ways that masculinity and hetereosexism are strongly implicated in (male) bystander non-intervention in violence against women. Additionally, Fabiano and colleagues (2003) found that a key factor influencing the likelihood that a man will intervene to prevent a sexual assault is his perception of other men's willingness to intervene. Moreover, Messerschmidt (1993) and O'Sullivan (1998) have both suggested that gang-rape can be understood as a male-bonding activity, where the participants' and observers' desire to be seen as 'masculine' by other men is key to understanding men as bystanders to incidents of sexual violence. Such research suggests the need to work with individual men to challenge those gender attitudes and norms, both condoning violence against women and those associating masculinity with violence, which may prevent them from intervening as active bystanders.

3.1.2 Masculine peer and organisational cultures

Individual attitudes and norms about gender roles are also influential in peer and organisational contexts (VicHealth 2007); such that male-dominated organisations and groups' cultures can play a role in either reinforcing or challenging individual norms and behaviours. The important role that masculinity and male peer cultures play in violence against women is further expanded in Schwartz and DeKeseredy's highly cited theory of 'Male Peer Support' (Schwartz & DeKeseredy 1997). The theory is a feminist-informed application of Routine Activity Theory to the specific issue of sexual violence against women and indeed represents one of the more explicit translations of a well-known

crime prevention theory to the role that bystanders play in the perpetuation of sexual violence. Based on research conducted at Canadian college campuses, male peer support focuses on the community and peer norms condoning violence against women that can contribute both to increasing offender motivations for using violence and a perception of the absence of guardianship against violence (Schwartz & DeKeseredy 1997; 2000; Schwartz et al. 2001). In their own surveys of campus sexual assault, Schwartz and DeKeseredy have repeatedly found that rates of violence are higher on those campuses where there is male peer norm support for the use of coercion in sexual relationships (eg. Schwartz & DeKeseredy 1997; 2000). The theory of male peer support, then, highlights the need for bystander approaches to preventing violence against women to focus on challenging the norms at the *meso* level; that is, peer groups, organisations and communities, so that these cultures may become spaces where peers routinely challenge other men's adherence to attitudes and norms condoning violence against women, rather than reinforcing them.

3.1.3 Societal-level cultural and institutional support for gender inequality

Underpinning an ecological model or public health framework for violence prevention is an understanding of the individual (micro), relationship or community (meso) and societal (macro) factors contributing to violence. This can include strategies that seek to address the underlying causes of gender-based violence (such as gender inequality and social norms condoning violence) as well as strategies focused on changing individual behaviour, knowledge and skills.

Indeed, many analyses of the causes of sexual and intimate partner violence identify the broader societal issues such as gender inequality and norms supporting male violence and entitlement that contribute to men's violence against women (WHO 2002; 2004; VicHealth 2007). For example, similar to male peer support theory, Fabiano and colleagues (2003) found that individual college men's intention to intervene to challenge norms condoning sexual violence was predicted by their views of the extent to which others held social norms supporting intervention. In addition, in research and evaluation of bystander approaches, Banyard and colleagues (2004: 69) note the importance of bystander models that are embedded "within ecological and feminist models of the causes of sexual violence calling for broader community approaches that target both men and women and move beyond individual levels of analysis".

Importantly then, bystander approaches to preventing violence against women must be supported by a broader strategy which both promotes widespread social norms supporting bystander intervention, whilst also continuing to address the institutional bases of gender inequality.

Table 1: Summary of individual enablers and obstacles to bystander action

Enablers of bystander action	Obstacles to bystander action	
Knowledge of what constitutes violence	The ambiguous nature of some everyday	
against women	sexism and heterosexism	
Awareness of harm caused by violence against	Exclusive group identity; male peer groups	
women	based on violence/aggressive masculinities	
Perception of responsibility to intervene	Fear of violence or being targeted by	
	perpetrator; fear that masculinity will be	
	called into question	
Perceived ability to intervene – skills	Perception that action would be ineffective	
Desire to educate perpetrator	Lack of knowledge about how to intervene	
Empathy for and desire to support victim	Rigid adherence to traditional gender roles;	
	attitudes supporting male dominance	
Self-validation, catharsis – expressing anger,	Impression management, preserving	
disapproval etc.	interpersonal relations	

Adapted from: Aboud & Joong 2008; Ashburn-Nardo, Morris & Goodwin 2008; Hyers 2007; Levine, Prosser, Evans & Reicher 2005; Saucier, Miller & Doucet 2005.

3.2 Practice models

While in general the field of primary prevention of violence against women is in its infancy in Australia (see Carmody et al. 2009), several examples of promising practice programs have emerged in recent years. These examples include social marketing approaches, peer education models and programs focusing on attitudinal as well as behaviour change. Consistent with the strong evidence base underlying the VicHealth prevention framework and others (WHO 2002; 2004), promising practice models have emerged across a range of settings including schools, workplaces, sporting clubs and other community contexts. In Australia, bystander approaches often form a component of a broader prevention program (see, for example, *Sex & Ethics* (section 4.1.5) and *Sexual Assault Prevention Program for Secondary Schools* (section 4.1.4)); however, there are few examples of programs or campaigns which are targetted more specifically to promoting prosocial bystander behaviours. Additionally, while there are more international examples of bystander approaches, particularly emerging out of the US, much of this work is under-evaluated making it difficult to determine the specific features of effectiveness (see Casey & Lindhorst 2009 for a systematic review). Thus, the following section provides a review of varying practice models for bystander approaches to preventing violence against women.

3.2.1 Media campaign models

Mass media have been used in public health and public education campaigns for many years. Television, radio, print media, billboards, poster advertisements and information brochures have all been used, with remarkable success both internationally and in the Australian context, to encourage individuals to engage in safer driving practices (Elder et al 2004; Tay 2005; White et al. 2000; Delaney et al. 2004), to guit smoking (Hurley & Matthews 2008; Hammond et al. 2006; Hyland et al. 2006), to promote safe sex practices (Chen et al. 2007), to address violence against women (Donovan & Vlais 2005) and more recently alcohol-associated violence (e.g 'Just Think' and 'Championship Moves' campaigns in Victoria). Although there is not a straightforward link between media campaigns and long-term changes in behaviour, there is a strong evidence base supporting the use of media campaigns to increase awareness of specific issues (Brown & Einsiedel 1990; Egger, Donovan & Spark 1993; Donovan & Henley 2004; Hornik 2002; Donovan & Vlais 2005; Noar 2006). In addition, there is evidence to suggest that media campaigns can also be effective in contributing to attitudinal and behavioural change, particularly when featured as part of a sustained strategy and complemented with community and individual-level approaches (Brown & Einsiedel 1990; Noar 2006). Overall, there is an important distinction to be made between 'awareness-raising campaigns' and 'social marketing strategies', wherein the latter are more likely to be tied to on-the-ground programs and activities and are more likely to produce measurable behavioural and attitudinal change where they are part of a broader strategy.

There are a number of best-practice features for effective media campaigns that are identified in the national and international research literature. For example, in a systematic review of media campaigns focusing on violence against women, Donovan and Vlais (2005) found that:

- media campaigns alone are unlikely to result in behavioural change, but rather should be integrated and mutually reinforce other 'on-the-ground' strategies (including service provision, prevention programs in localised settings and policy/legislative changes)
- media campaigns can be undermined by contradictory messages across mass media sources more broadly, and thus may be complemented by media advocacy strategies directed towards the reporting of violence against women generally
- many media campaigns have lacked the sustained funding and implementation needed to best ensure their effectiveness over time.

Media campaigns are variously referred to as awareness-raising, public information and social marketing campaigns; however, these terms are not necessarily interchangeable. For instance, while awareness-raising and public information campaigns may seek to convey information in a straightforward fashion to the general population, social marketing more specifically refers to the use of marketing principles to 'sell' social norms, attitudes and behaviours to the broad population in order to achieve social change (Kotler & Zaltman 1971; Kotler et al. 2002). Social marketing has grown in popularity and use since its 'discovery' in the 1970s, in particular to promote public health messages as well as in relation to specific policy issues. To be most successful, social marketing relies on conducting research in order to get to know the 'consumer' – the target audience for the campaign – and to ensure that the messages to be conveyed are being effectively and persuasively communicated. According to the social marketing literature, this element is not always well applied in practice (Lefebvre 1992; Andreason 1994; Kotler et al. 2002) meaning that some campaigns are inaccurately labelled 'social marketing' when they would in fact be more accurately described as awareness-raising or public information campaigns.

While there are examples of public health social marketing campaigns that have been successful in promoting social change, the relationship between a social marketing campaign and changes in individuals' behaviour is not straightforward. For example, in their evaluation of the 'Know Your Power' campaign Potter and colleagues (2009) found that the poster awareness raising campaign was effective for raising students' awareness of sexual violence as a social problem and for producing a greater willingness and interest in participating in further programs/action to prevent sexual violence. Similar to related research in the health promotion field, this finding suggests that awareness raising or social marketing campaigns may be successful in promoting a climate for violence prevention; however, on their own they do not appear to have a population-level effect on behaviour. This further supports the use of social marketing campaigns as an important component of a broader prevention framework (VicHealth 2007).

3.2.2 Peer education and peer support models

Peer-based bystander models can vary from peer education programs to peer support programs, as well as involving the recruitment and training of peer 'leaders' or 'mentors' who make a personal commitment to act as prosocial bystanders to prevent violence against women.

Peer education refers to an approach common in health promotion where, rather than health professionals educating members of the public, community members are supported to promote health-promoting change among their peers. Peer education models are grounded in a strong

evidence base suggesting that peer group norms have an enormous influence over individual norms and behaviour (Casey &Lindhorst 2009; Flood et al. 2009; VicHealth 2007). Nonetheless, the effectiveness of peer education models and other prevention programs incorporating peer 'leaders' or 'mentors' can be difficult to assess and may vary considerably (Mellanby et al. 2000). In addition, there is variation among the specific forms that peer education takes across programming. For example, peer educators may be unpaid volunteers, they may be paid a small stipend to cover expenses, or they may be paid a reasonable salary. Levels of support and ongoing professional development also vary with some peer educators supported by regular meetings and training, while others are expected to continue their work largely without formal supports.

In their review, Cowie and Hutson (2005) draw on a human rights framework (Convention on the Rights of the Child, CROC), which acknowledges not only the rights of children to a reasonable quality of life but the need for active participation by children in decision-making affecting them. Peer approaches to preventing youth bullying and violence are thus seen as not only promising as regards their effectiveness, but also as encompassing a rights-based approach in which children and young people are actively involved. Cowie and Hutson (2005) describe three peer bystander approaches in the context of bullying in schools which demonstrate the possible diversity of peer-based bystander models for preventing violence against women. These are:

- Peer counselling/peer support: refers to schemes where student peers are trained as peer
 counsellors or 'supporters' in the skills to deal with peers' interpersonal issues, to help the
 victims of bullying and to challenge peers who bully.
- Befriending: or 'buddying' schemes in which peer leaders (often senior students) are
 provided with training in interpersonal skills, active listening and conflict resolution, and
 paired with (usually junior) students, promoting a sense of responsibility to 'look out for'
 their buddy.
- Peer mediation and peer councils: refers to a structured process in which bystanders take
 the role of peer mediators in order to resolve conflicts between their peers and/or
 determine appropriate resolutions and outcomes in response to inappropriate peer
 behaviours.

Not only can peer bystander approaches such as these be effective in reducing levels of bullying and violence, but they play an important role in creating school (or organisational/community) cultures

in which victims feel supported and are more likely to report when bullying/violence occurs (Naylor & Cowie 1999; Cowie & Hutson 2005).

There are also peer bystander approaches that enable individuals to take a proactive 'peer educator' or 'champion' role within their peer context. They can take the form of 'pledges' or the recruitment of groups of (usually) young people as part of a workshop or seminar, asking them to make a public committment to not use violence and to not condone or remain silent about other men's violence (e.g. 'Men of Strength' clubs and 'Mentors in Violence Prevention' in the US, both discussed in more detail in section 4.1.3). They can also focus on equipping people to participate as educators or leaders in a classroom setting or other structured learning environment (e.g. 'SAPPSS', as discussed in section 4.1.4).

3.2.3 School-based bystander models

While peer education and peer support models are common in school-based anti-violence education, these are not the only forms that bystander approaches to violence against women in schools might take. There are few examples in ther literature of school-based bystander-specific programs aimed towards preventing violence against women. However, in a recent report supporting *Respectful Relationships Education* development in Victoria (Flood et al. 2009: 40) there is clear acknowledgement of the importance of peer contexts in school cultures and the need to create a shared 'culture of responsibility and respect'. Additionally, some school-based education programs for the prevention of sexual violence include a bystander component (e.g CASA House *SAPPSS* which is discussed further in section 4.1.4). There is also a considerable history of schools' engagement with bystander approaches to prevent bullying amongst student populations, and these provide some additional useful lessons for the development of school-based bystander models for preventing intimate partner and sexual violence, coercion and harassment.

For example, in response to a number of school shootings and other lethal violence in schools, US researchers have highlighted the importance of taking a whole-of-school culture approach to the prevention of violence and bullying (Cowie & Hutson 2005; Stueve et al. 2006; Twemlow et al. 2004). Taking this approach, Twemlow and colleagues (2004) "investigate bystander roles often occupied or assumed by teachers and students that create a social architecture for school bullying and violence not usually addressed by traditional school anti-bullying and anti-violence programs". In other words, their focus for preventing bullying in school environments is not only on the bully, victim and immediate bystanders, but rather on the whole-of-school culture or 'social architecture' including interactions modelled by teachers. Importantly, what their research shows is that in school cultures

where teachers and other school staff model active bystander roles by intervening in bullying (whether physical or verbal/emotional abuse and teasing), students themselves are more likely to intervene when witnessing bullying. By contrast, in school cultures where teachers show a poor understanding of bullying and fail to intervene (particularly in verbal/emotional bullying), students are more likely to facilitate bullying through non-intervention (Twemlow et al. 2004).

On the basis of this research, Twemlow and colleagues (2004) developed an anti-bullying program ('The Peaceful Schools Project'), which included various components to address the whole-of-school social architecture which directly and indirectly supports bullying including; a *positive climate campaign* including posters, magnets and reflective discussions among teachers and students, and a *classroom management plan* to support teachers in identifying problematic behaviours before they develop into systemic bullying and to better model skills in conflict resolution (in addition to working directly with students themselves). The program evaluation demonstrated not only increased willingness of students to intervene, but decreases in actual bullying victimisation according to student self- and peer-reports (Twemlow et al. 2004); further demonstrating the effectiveness of bystander strategies which seek to engage all stakeholders in a community or organisation, rather than focusing only on the individual level or sub-groups (such as students).

In the Australian context, Rigby and Johnson (2004b; 2005; 2006) highlight the importance of engaging students as active bystanders to prevent bullying and sexual coercion. Their own research into the prevalence of sexual harassment and coercion in schools has also sought to measure the willingness of students to intervene when witnessing such violence. Surveys of school students in coeducational secondary schools in South Australia show that while girls are more likely than boys to report a willingness to intervene to stop sexual coercion of another student, nonetheless 25 per cent of girls and 38 per cent of boys said that they would 'ignore' the incident, while a further 13 per cent of boys (and 2 per cent of girls) said they would support the abuser's behaviour (Rigby & Johnson, 2004a). Moreover, as noted by Rigby and Johnson, as well as others, rates of actual bystander intervention are usually far lower than the rates of intention or willingness to intervene. Importantly, the surveys were conducted in schools which had introduced anti-bullying policies (Rigby & Johnson, 2004a); drawing attention not only to the need for prevention strategies which extend beyond policy, but also to the fact that general anti-bullying strategies are not necessarily suited to the prevention of violence against women in particular. In his book Stop the Bullying: A Handbook for Schools, Rigby (2003) further describes a number of strategies for promoting a whole-of-school culture of shared responsibility for bullying and sexual coercion prevention.

3.2.4. Workplace and organisational models

Workplaces and indeed other organisations (including community organisations, sports/leisure clubs, religious communities) have been identified in the VicHealth prevention framework as key settings in which masculine peer cultures and norms condoning violence against women can be challenged. The role of organisations, however, is not just as a setting in which specific male peer cultures may be challenged and indeed individuals' intervention as active bystanders in peer cultures encouraged. Organisations themselves, at a policy and leadership level, can actively create environments which are conducive to individuals' active bystander attitudes and behaviours.

Moreover, while much of the violence against women literature is concerned with sexual and/or intimate partner violence, women's experiences of violence extend to the workplace setting. For example, recent Victorian studies have found that over 60 per cent of women surveyed report experiencing some form of violence at work (URCOT 2005) and 75 per cent report experiencing unwanted or unwelcome sexual behaviour at work (Hayes 2004). Indeed, in a national study, the Australian Human Rights Commission found that around one in three Australian women reported experiencing sexual harassment in their lifetime, but that a further 'one in five (22 per cent) respondents who said they had not experienced sexual harassment then went on to report having experienced behaviours that may in fact amount go sexual harassment' (Australian Human Rights Commission 2008: 1).

Thus, in the Victorian context it has been suggested that workplace-based violence prevention programs warrant particular attention because:

- Workplaces are organisational contexts through which social norms are shaped and can be changed.
- Workplaces are an important context for reaching men and women who have limited contact with place-based community networks and organisations.
- Employers are potential partners in violence-prevention efforts and benefit from reductions in violence in terms of increased productivity in the workplace (VicHealth 2007: 57).

Workplaces are also an important setting for prevention as women experience forms of gendered violence in the workplace itself and may also seek assistance for experiences of violence (whether occurring inside or outside the workplace setting) through workplace support mechanisms and collegial networks.

In terms of promoting bystander approaches to preventing violence against women, workplaces also emerge as an important potential site of intervention. In addition to their legislated obligations (e.g. *Sex Discrimination Act 1984* (Cwlth) and *Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004* (Vic)), an employer may implement policies and programs that seek to respond to incidents of violence and/or provide support for victims of violence so as to assist them to maintain their employment. However, such strategies may also have a primary preventative effect by promoting a non-violent workplace culture where violence against women is not condoned or tolerated and thus promoting active bystander attitudes and behaviours in the broader workplace community. Conversely, the presence of policies and programs seeking to respond to incidents of violence are less likely to be effective if an informal workplace culture of condoning violence persists.

As such, it may be possible to conceive of workplaces and organisations not only as sites for supporting individuals to intervene as active bystanders in peer/collegial contexts, but that the workplace or organisation itself – through its own policies, procedures and leadership examples – can become either a *passive* or *prosocial* bystander to violence against women. There is some early work in organisational development currently taking place in Victoria and Australia, such as the Australian Football League's *Respect and Responsibility* and *Fair Game: Respect Matters* programs, as well as extensive work across local council organisations (see also Miner-Rubino & Cortina 2004; Hitlan et al. 2006; Whitzman 2009). While workplace and organisational models remain largely under-developed and under-evaluated, they represent an important setting for future work.

3.3 Summary of features for effective bystander approaches

The international and national research evidence regarding design and implementation of violence against women prevention (including bystander approaches) suggest a number of features for effective practice which are transferable across different settings and prevention approaches. The following principles, which are also reflected in the Australian *National Standards for the primary prevention of sexual assault through education* (Carmody et al. 2009) and a recent Victorian report into *Respectful Relationships Education* (Flood et al. 2009), draw together this research evidence for effective practice.

Bystander strategies as part of a broader approach. There is strong evidence to demonstrate the effectiveness of multi-level, mutually reinforcing strategies for prevention. Bystander strategies will be most effective when they exist as one component of a broader approach or of a multi-level program in one setting.

Theory-based program development. There is growing evidence to show the importance of grounding prevention program development in sound and testable theoretical rationales that make transparent the presumed link between program activities and the intended outcomes.

Community engagement. Involving community members and organisations as partners in identifying targets for change and designing strategies is important for creating sustainable programs based on community commitment and participation.

Gender-sensitive design. The application of a gendered analysis to program design and development will ensure the program strategies and outcomes are appropriate for boys, girls, women and men and that they attend to the particular needs and experiences of each grouping. One aspect of this may be the development of specifically tailored strategies to engage men and boys.

Contextualised programming. There is increasing concern within the broader literature regarding the importance of tailoring programs to specific contexts and communities, rather than attempting to simply replicate programs in new settings. Prevention strategies must take into account the localised norms and structural issues that may be relevant to violence prevention.

Comprehensive program development. Longer interventions (across multiple sessions) are more effective than short (one-off) interventions, and in-depth coverage of a smaller range of topics is found to be more effective than shallow coverage of a large range of topics (further supporting the need for multiple sessions where multiple topics are to be covered).

Skilled and supported program facilitators. Professional educators and/or program facilitators are found to be most effective. Where peer educators are used, they must be adequately trained and supported in their prevention role.

Mix of single-sex and mixed-sex program delivery. There is evidence to suggest that while mixed-sex groups appear to result in greater attitudinal change for women than single-sex groups, single-sex groups appear more effective for changing behavioural intentions. By contrast, for male participants, there is some evidence to suggest that mixed-sex groups are more effective for changes to men's behavioural intentions. In other words, there is evidence to support a mixture of single-sex sessions and mixed-sex sessions across education-based programming.

Incorporation of evaluation. There is also a concern in the literature that the effects of violence-prevention programs may fade over time, highlighting the continued importance of evaluation at various intervals before, immediately after, short term (3–6 months) and long term (12+ months)

following participation in prevention programs. Evaluation may demonstrate changes at the individual as well as community or organisational levels.

(See Abbey 2005; Anderson & Whiston 2005; Adair 2006; Carmody 2004; Carmody et al. 2009; Casey & Lindhorst 2009; Dyson et al. 2003; Dyson & Flood 2008; Flood et al. 2009, for comprehensive reviews).

3.4 Community readiness and implementing bystander approaches

While bystander approaches and programs may often be directed towards increasing individuals' behaviours as active bystanders, as the models reviewed above indicate, there is also great potential for bystander approaches which seek to engage whole organisations and communities, as well as at the societal level. Indeed, this incorporation of prevention approaches across each level of the ecological model as expressed in the VicHealth prevention framework (VicHealth 2007) is described by many researchers as being crucial to ensuring effective and sustainable social change to prevent violence against women. Nonetheless, research also indicates that communities may have differing levels of 'receptiveness' to prevention messages, or in other words 'readiness to change'. For example, in their review Banyard et al. (2004: 64) describe a model for interpreting 'community readiness to change' and argue that tailoring prevention messages "as communities move from 'no' or 'little awareness' of the problem toward preparation to addressing the problem and ultimately to expanding and making permanent efforts to address the problem" are necessary to ensure effective community uptake of prevention messages. This section briefly considers indicators of 'community readiness to change' for the implementation of bystander approaches in the Victorian context.

3.4.1 Community readiness for implementing bystander approaches in Victoria Policy and legislation

An initial key indicator for 'community readiness for change' in Victoria can be seen in the strong policy leadership, legislative reform, funding and expansion of support/services to respond to victims and perpetrators of violence against women in recent years (e.g. Women's Safety Strategy policy, and recent revisions of family violence and sexual assault legislation). These tertiary responses not only have a clear role in responding at the coalface of the problem, but also have an indirect primary prevention role.

More recently, as highlighted in the 'Introduction' section of this report, both state and national governments in Australia have initiated policies and programs specifically targeted at primary

prevention. This high-level leadership to recognise and prevent violence against women is critical to influence policy and investment and to lead the community more generally.

In addition to specific legislative reform addressing violence against women, the Victorian (and indeed Australia) community also works within other legislative frameworks, which provide a highlevel commitment to eliminate sex-based discrimination and sexual harassment (e.g. Sex Discrimination Act 1984 (Cwlth), Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 (Vic)). Furthermore, specific laws against racial discrimination as well as race-based vilification and incitement to violence (e.g. Racial Discrimination Act 1975 (Cwlth), Racial and Religious Tolerance Act 2001 (Vic)), provide further legislative models creating a context in which these forms of discrimination and violence are actively discouraged. Other related legislation has the potential to address systemic inequality and discrimination, including on the basis of gender (e.g. Equal Opportunity Act 1995 (Vic), Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 2006). It is of interest to consider whether gender- and sexuality-based vilification legislation would similarly be taken seriously by the Victorian community. In the international context, and in the aftermath of the Kitty Genovese case and similar such highprofile cases, debates have from time to time emerged in the United States regarding the necessity of a legal duty to intervene to prevent a violent crime, or so-called 'bystander statutes'. Bagby (1999) discussed whether societies should pass laws to impose a specific duty on crime witnesses to intervene and to enforce criminal penalties for failing to do so. Indeed, many states within the US have enacted specific statutes requiring a bystander to intervene to assist a victim of crime or face criminal penalties for failing to do so. Such statutes require bystanders either to 'rescue' the individual (in the absence of danger to themselves) or else immediately report the crime to authorities (see also Givelber 1998). In Australia, there has not been an equivalent focus on so-called 'bystander statutes' to date. Nonetheless, in the fields of child abuse and domestic violence, various jurisdictions have passed similarly framed laws requiring professionals in particular fields to report to the authorities suspected or known cases of child abuse, and in Tasmania adult domestic violence (i.e. 'mandatory reporting'). It is not perhaps difficult to imagine an extension of such mandatory reporting laws to other crimes including violence against women – and indeed racially-motivated vilification or violence, as discussed in the review of bystander approaches in support of preventing race-based discrimination (Nelson, Dunn et al. 2010).

Community attitudes

There is considerable evidence to demonstrate community readiness for implementing bystander approaches. A Victorian community attitudes survey undertaken to explore readiness and understanding of violence against women indicated a relatively high acknowledgment that violence against women is a serious problem for the community (VicHealth 2006).

More recently, there was evidence to suggest a strong receptivity in the Australian community to active bystander roles in preventing violence against women. In the *National Survey on Community Attitudes to Violence Against Women*, a majority (81 per cent) of respondents agreed that they would intervene in some way in a situation involving domestic violence (VicHealth 2010). Most said that they would intervene either by offering support or advice by talking to the victim (49 per cent), or by reporting the incident to police (41 per cent). Moreover, consistent with international research, the survey found that those individuals who held less violence-supportive attitudes were more likely to report being willing to intervene (VicHealth 2010). These results reflect those of the earlier Victorian survey, which found that: "most Victorians reported that they would intervene in some way in a situation of domestic violence, including where the victim was a stranger (81 per cent), neighbour (84 per cent) or family member or friend (95 per cent)' (VicHealth 2006: 65).

Workplaces and organisations

A further potential indicator of community readiness in the Victorian context is the broad shift toward corporate social responsibility models and a focus on promoting 'healthy work environments'. These initiatives have the potential to place violence against women on the workplace/organisational agenda and to engage their members and stakeholders in strategies to address violence against women. A range of recent initiatives taken by a number of unions, sporting clubs, workplaces, schools and local councils reflect a growing organisational climate in Victoria which conceptualises violence against women as a shared community issue requiring a shared community response.

VicHealth is currently working in partnership with a number of community, public and local council organisations to develop readiness and shared action in relation to prevention. The *Respect*, *Responsibility and Equality Program* is part of a body of work designed to consolidate practice and support the development of sustained changes in policy and practice to prevent violence against women though organisations and partnerships. This work has been particularly focused on settings-

based approaches and may point to the specific settings that have developed a greater readiness for bystander programs.

Another example of organisational development is the recent launch of a model domestic violence clause by the Public Service Association (PSA) and Community and Public Sector Union (CPSU), for inclusion in workplace awards and agreements. The clause acknowledges that domestic violence has serious impacts on victims' ability to work and on the workplace generally, and that workplaces therefore have an interest as active rather than passive bystanders to their employee's experiences of violence. Developed jointly by the PSA/CPSU and the Australian Domestic and Family Violence Clearinghouse, the model domestic violence clause introduces flexible provisions to protect employees and support them to stay at work.

3.4.2 Challenges for implementation of bystander approaches

There is also evidence to suggest that while the general community may readily identify physical and sexual violence as serious, there is less acknowledgement of other forms of violence and abuse including verbal, emotional, social and economic abuses (VicHealth 2006). While not directly an indication of bystander attitudes and behaviours, this finding does give cause to consider that the general community may also be less able to identify verbal and more subtle instances of sexism and heterosexism that can underscore and contribute to a condoning of violence against women. Thus bystander approaches may need to incorporate awareness raising and education on these subtle but systemic issues. Additionally, while, in general, community attitudes recognising violence against women and expressing an intention to intervene have improved over time, these attitudes do vary somewhat across some culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) communities (VicHealth 2006; 2009). This further suggests the need for culturally appropriate bystander approaches for the prevention of violence against women.

Importantly, community attitude surveys have also found that "while over 80 per cent of respondents believed that they would intervene in some way in a situation of domestic violence, a similar proportion (84 per cent) of respondents agreed to the statement elsewhere in the survey that 'Most people turn a blind eye to, or ignore, domestic violence'" (VicHealth 2009: 49; VicHealth 2006). This finding suggests that the general community significantly underestimates the willingness of others to intervene in situations of violence; this is particularly concerning given the strong link in the research literature between an individual's likelihood of intervening and their perception of whether others would likely intervene (as discussed earlier). Moreover, "sizeable numbers of people reported that they would intervene in ways that are discouraged by experts working with families

affected by violence (for example, intervening personally and confronting the perpetrator rather than calling the police or offering support to the woman)...[while] research shows that the responses of family and friends to women experiencing violence are frequently unhelpful" (VicHealth 2006: 65). This suggests that bystander approaches should continue to include components addressing how to respond appropriately to disclosures of violence and to provide support to a victim or perpetrator of violence.

Banyard et al. (2004) suggest that a further key challenge to the prevention of sexual violence in a community setting is finding ways to encourage communities to 'listen to the message' (p. 64). In particular they note the concern (similarly expressed by other researchers) that, depending on how they are delivered, prevention messages can be heard by some men as defining all men as perpetrators *only* and women *only* as victims. It follows that individuals may become highly defensive about viewing themselves in these ways, and thereby inadvertently increase levels of resistance to prevention messages (Banyard et al. 2004).

Encouraging workplaces and other organisations in the community to 'listen to the message' also represents a potential challenge for the implementation and uptake of bystander approaches to the prevention of violence against women. In some instances, organisations may already have entrenched localised cultures and peer norms involving systemic sexual harassment or other forms of sexism and heterosexism which would themselves need to be challenged and addressed in addition to any specific and individual bystander approaches. While workplaces in particular may have obligations under legislation to provide safe and healthy work environments, as well to respond effectively to instances of sexual harassment and/or sex discrimination, in general many workplaces may continue to view the problem of violence against women as less directly relevant to their organisation, and thus be reluctant to be involved as key settings for bystander approaches (VCCAV 2004).

Indeed, key strategies to successfully engage workplaces include:

- genuine commitment to the program/policy from all levels of management
- cooperation and support from other workplace stakeholders (such as unions, human resources and employee assistance programs)
- availability and accessibility of information regarding violence (such as educative materials and/or brochures with referral details to available services)

Victorian Health Promotion Foundation

- presentation of information in a non-threatening and systemic way (for example including domestic violence or indeed sexual harassment and sexual violence information in other anti-violence, workplace bullying or harassment information and training initiatives)
- disseminating consistent anti-violence messages regarding workplace violence, domestic violence, sexual violence and harassment (such as through posters, regular articles in employee newsletters, emails and intranet sites) (VCCAV 2004).

4. Review of existing bystander program resources

This section briefly reviews specific existing bystander programs and resources that can inform the development and implementation of bystander approaches to preventing violence against women in Victoria. Following the approach adopted by Flood and Fergus (2008) this section is organised in three parts:

- **effective practice examples** ('3-star' programs which have a sound theoretical basis, have been implemented and have strong evaluation-based evidence of effectiveness)
- **promising practice examples** ('2-star' programs which have a sound theoretical basis, have been implemented but without strong evaluative evidence of effectiveness as yet)
- **emerging practice examples** ('1-star' programs which have a sound theoretical basis, but which are still in pilot phase or yet to be implemented or evaluated).

4.1 Effective practice examples (★★★)

4.1.1 Bringing in the Bystander (US)

Developed by Banyard and colleagues at the University of New Hampshire, *Bringing in the Bystander* draws on a community of responsibility model to teach bystanders how to intervene safely and effectively in cases where sexual violence may be occurring or where there may be risk. The key message of the program is that "Everyone in the community has a role to play in ending sexual violence."

Bringing in the Bystander draws together the founding work on bystander-focused prevention by Jackson Katz (Mentors in Violence Prevention program), Alan Berkowitz (The Rape Prevention Program for Men) and John Foubert (One in Four and The Men's Program). The program includes both women and men as potential bystanders or witnesses to risky behaviours related to sexual violence around them.

The program is based on a multi-session curriculum conducted in groups with a team of one male and one female peer facilitator. Using an active learning environment, participants learn about the role of prosocial bystanders in communities and information about sexual violence, as well as learning and practising appropriate and safe bystander skills. *Bringing in the Bystander* has been evaluated on the campus of the University of New Hampshire, and while evaluation is ongoing, the results demonstrate the effectiveness of this program in terms of increasing student participants'

knowledge, attitudes and behaviours about effective bystander responses to sexual violence (see Banyard et al. 2005).

An additional component to Banyard and colleagues' Bringing in the Bystander in-person program is

4.1.2 Know Your Power: Step In, Speak Up (US)

a social marketing campaign Know Your Power: Step In, Speak Up. The bystander-oriented social marketing campaign explicitly modelled prosocial bystander behaviour through a series of four posters that illustrated typical university situations. One poster shows a young man forcing a young woman up against the desk in her dorm room as she exclaims that he is hurting her. Outside the room, two fellow student residents discuss how to intervene. Another poster features students listening to and caring for friends who have experienced sexual violence. All four posters feature the campaign tagline "Know your power. Step in, Speak up. You can make a difference," and provide specific advice about what to do in a situation similar to the one shown. For example, the first poster above offers the following advice: "Intimate partner abuse is everyone's problem. Intervene when you see it or hear it" and shows the students agreeing to report the incident to an authority. A post-test evaluation of the campaign showed that participants who reported seeing the posters exhibited greater awareness of the violence against women and greater willingness to participate in actions aimed at reducing violence compared to those students who reported not seeing the posters. The campaign invites university students to think about violence against women on campus and to consider actions to prevent it, representing an important step in reducing sexual violence on campuses where prevailing norms and culture too often facilitate rather than discourage sexual

4.1.3 Mentors in Violence Prevention (US)

Under the leadership of anti-violence educator Jackson Katz and located at Northeastern University's Centre for the Study of Sport in Society, the *Mentors in Violence Prevention (MVP)* program is a peer education/leadership training program that motivates student-athletes and student leaders to play a central role in preventing violence against women. The MVP program views student-athletes and student leaders not as potential perpetrators or victims, but as empowered bystanders who can interrupt and challenge sexist and abusive attitudes and behaviours among peers. The program includes a multi-session (six or seven two-hour sessions) curriculum in which participants: explore different forms of abuse, explore the socialisation of gender roles in media and society, learn to recognise tacit acceptance of violence against women, and practise skills in how to confront sexist

violence.

behaviour and attitudes. The program also includes an additional train-the-trainer component for those participants who are interested in becoming further involved as peer educators. Ongoing program evaluation demonstrates promising results in relation to changes in participants' knowledge and behaviours (Ward 2001).

4.1.4 SAPPSS (Australia)

The Sexual Assault Prevention Program for Secondary Schools (SAPPSS), was initially developed by CASA House (the Centre Against Sexual Assault) in Melbourne in 1999, and involves a whole-of-school approach to preventing sexual assault and promoting respectful behaviours (Imbesi 2008). After piloting and evaluation, the program has been developed to incorporate:

- a curriculum comprising six sessions for Years 9 and 10 students; professional development for all school staff
- train-the-trainer workshops with staff who have nominated to deliver program content
- review of school policy and procedures to support the program
- a peer educator program for senior students who have completed the initial program curriculum.

The student curriculum program discusses issues such as defining and understanding consent, identifying respectful and non-respectful behaviours and engaging students as active bystanders — including how to help a friend and access support. Delivery of the curriculum also incorporates many elements of best practice, including: involving whole year levels (rather than selected groups); a comprehensive program across six sessions; an interactive workshop atmosphere with a mix of specially trained staff and community agency guest speakers (rather than didactic learning); separate gender groups at first, with mixed gender discussion in later sessions; mixed gender co-facilitators; and a peer leader/educator component.

Reflecting on the success of the program as it has developed, CASA House staff also suggest that having commitment from the school principal and senior staff, in addition to the whole-of-school community approach adopted, significantly adds to the student program's effectiveness.

Furthermore, with staff development and support from CASA House, some schools have been able to further embed the student program into the school curriculum, sustaining the overall program for the long term (Imbesi 2008).

4.1.5 Sex & Ethics (Australia)

Another leading exemplar of effective Australian practice in community-based primary prevention through education is the New South Wales—based *Sex & Ethics* program. Developed by Australian criminologist Moira Carmody in partnership with the New South Wales Rape Crisis Centre, the program engages young people in building knowledge and skills about ethical decision-making in their sexual encounters. Sex & Ethics also includes a bystander component; 'Being an Ethical Friend and Citizen' (Carmody 2009).

Much like the CASA House student curriculum, the *Sex & Ethics* program incorporates elements of recognised best practice including: a comprehensive six-week program piloted and evaluated with young people aged 16 to 25; interactive workshop discussions including a focus on skill development rather than information only; and a program structure that emphasises young people's critical reflection on their own sexual practices. One of the most innovative and promising aspects of the program structure is that rather than merely instructing young people on 'what not to do' or the 'risks' of sex, the *Sex & Ethics* program invites young people to further develop their own capabilities to negotiate consensual, ethical, sexual encounters (Carmody 2009).

4.2 Promising practice examples (★★)

4.2.1 Men Can Stop Rape (US)

Men Can Stop Rape (MCSR) is an international organisation that seeks to mobilise men to create cultures free from violence, especially men's violence against women. Since its inception in 1997, MCSR has called on men to redefine masculinity and male strength as part of preventing men's violence against women. MCSR is involved with train-the-trainer programs, running workshops (16-session 'Men of Strength' clubs) with young men and a social marketing campaign, all directed to promoting men's involvement as prosocial bystanders to prevent sexual and intimate partner violence. Organised around the theme line 'My Strength Is Not for Hurting', the campaign consisting of posters, radio and theatre advertisements seeks to: educate young men about their role as allies with women in preventing sexual and intimate partner violence; promote positive, non-violent models of male strength; and empower youth to take action to end dating violence, promote healthy relationships based on equality and respect and create safer school communities (see www.mencanstoprape.org/index.htm).

In April 2003 MCSR received a two-year grant from the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) to support evaluative research designed to identify and evaluate best practices for primary

prevention programs aimed at preventing young men and boys from perpetration of sexual violence. The evaluation was based on a pre- and post-test survey of changes in young men's knowledge, beliefs and behaviours (Hawkins 2005). While the evaluation report indicates that the sample sizes were too small to record statistically significant changes, nonetheless findings indicate an improvement in participants' beliefs and their self-reported likelihood of intervening to prevent violence against women (Hawkins 2005). Despite not being systematically evaluated at this stage, MCSR has certainly been influential in the US, with over 100 examples of 'Men of Strength' (MOST) clubs emerging across high schools and communities.

4.2.2 Step Up! (US)

The *Step Up!* program, based at the University of Arizona, seeks to promote prosocial bystander behaviours across a range of social issues, including alcohol, anger, depression, discrimination, eating disorders, gambling, hazing, relationship and sexual violence (University of Arizona 2011). With the core message 'Step Up! Be a Leader, Make a Difference', the program educates students to be proactive in helping others through awareness raising, asking participants to make a commitment to help, and developing their skills and confidence when responding to problems or concerns. *Step Up!* includes a range of resources and materials, including surveys for conducting evaluations of the program, which enable the model to be adapted to delivery in other settings. An evaluation of the model is not yet publicly available.

4.2.3 Men Against Sexual Assault (Australia)

Men Against Sexual Assault (MASA) is an organisation of men working within a pro-feminist framework towards the elimination of sexual violence (Pease & Velazquez 1993). The organisation seeks to challenge men to be accountable for their participation in sexist, racist and homophobic behaviour. In the 1990s, MASA groups were operating in most Australian states and ran a two-day 'Patriarchy Awareness Workshop' in workplaces (Pease 2008; Pease & Velazquez 1993). The workshops incorporated reflective group discussions, practice-based exercises and video materials to encourage men to reflect on their own practice and to become accountable and responsible for their own sexist attitudes and for providing more gender-equitable roles models among their peers (Pease & Velazquez 1993). While no evaluation of the work undertaken by MASA is available, the involvement of men associated with the organisation continues to be felt within policy and practice, including MASA's involvement in the first White Ribbon Campaign in Australia.

4.2.4 White Ribbon Campaign (Australia)

In the violence against women field, perhaps one of the most well-known awareness-raising campaigns targeted towards promoting prosocial bystander behaviours is the White Ribbon Campaign. The core message of the Australian campaign, 'Men, Not Violent, Not Silent', encourages all men to 'swear never to commit, never to excuse, and never to remain silent' about violence against women. The White Ribbon Foundation Australia funds the campaign and also conducts research and program activities, including education and male leadership programs aimed at men and boys around Australia.

4.2.5 Respect and Responsibility (Australian Football League)

The *Respect and Responsibility* program is the Australian Football League's (AFL) response to addressing violence against women and it is designed to 'work towards creating safe, supportive and inclusive environments for women and girls across the football industry as well as the broader community' (AFL 2010). The policy seeks to shift attitudes: ensuring that those in the AFL industry are informed and have policy and procedures in place that recognise that violence against women and behaviour that harms or degrades women is not acceptable. The AFL has worked closely with VicHealth over the past five years to implement the *Respect and Responsibility* program. The program has focused on:

- Developing model anti-sexual harassment and anti-sexual discrimination procedures across the AFL and its 16 clubs.
- Developing organisational policies and procedures to ensure a safe, supportive and inclusive environment for women.
- Creating changes to AFL rules relating to 'Conduct Unbecoming', which cover the specific context of allegations of sexual assault.
- Developing targeted education programs.
- Creating model policies and procedures that can be implemented at the community club level.

Respect and Responsibility explicitly incorporates a whole-of-organisation response, as well as articulating the role of bystanders in the prevention of violence against women (AFL 2010).

4.3 Emerging Australian practice examples (★)

4.3.1 CEO Challenge (Brisbane)

An emerging example of violence against women prevention through engaging workplaces as bystanders is Australia's *CEO Challenge*. *CEO Challenge* is based on the US Corporate Alliance to End Partner Violence model, with the support of the Brisbane Lord Mayor's Women's Advisory Committee. The initiative encourages business to support intimate partner violence services and promote awareness of this issue in their organisation and in the wider community. The program aims to raise awareness in a way that also benefits the domestic violence sector through the formation of mutually beneficial partnerships. For example, business may support a women's refuge through goods' drives or fundraising, in return for which businesses receive awareness training and support to develop policies around domestic violence in their workplace (Murray and Powell, 2008; Victorian Community Council Against Violence, 2004). Additional examples of strategies for the prevention of violence against women, engaging workplaces as bystanders, are discussed in Murray and Powell (2008) and the Victorian Community Council Against Violence (2004) report, *Family Violence is a Workplace Issue*.

4.3.2 The Knox Accord to End Violence Against Women (Melbourne)

The *Knox Accord to End Violence Against Women* was first adopted by the Mayor of the City of Knox, followed by general members of the community, on 23 November 2007. It identifies the City of Knox as a community that "affirms respect for all women and for their right to perform within their chosen roles and be recognised as full and equal participants in all domains, be they social, political, economic, or cultural". The *Knox Accord to End Violence Against Women* signifies that the community of Knox:

- opposes all forms of violence and violence against women in particular
- acknowledges and supports existing policies, approaches and services that respond to violence when it occurs
- is committed to developing local strategies and policies to prevent violence, and respond effectively to violence when it occurs.

The City of Knox has an increasing number of community members and local businesses that have taken an oath to 'not commit, condone, or remain silent about violence against women' (City of Knox 2007).

4.3.3 Northern Interfaith Respectful Relationships Project (Melbourne)

The Northern Interfaith Respectful Relationships Project is coordinated by Darebin City Council with funding from VicHealth. The project aims to promote non-violent and respectful ways for women and men to relate to each other within faith communities, as well as building models for mentoring and dialogue amongst faith leaders about prevention and respectful relationships.

4.4 Summary of existing bystander approaches within an ecological framework

The table below demonstrates the diversity of settings and the levels of intervention (individual, community/organisational, societal) across which bystander approaches to the prevention of violence against women may operate.

Table 2: Framework of bystander approaches for preventing violence against women

Settings	Level of intervention		Level of intervention		
	Individual (micro)	Relationship/ organisational (meso)	Societal (macro)		
Schools	Mentors in Violence Prevention Men of Strength (MOST)	SAPPSS* ('whole of school' model)	Legislation (e.g. mandatory reporting provisions)		
College/ university	Bringing in the Bystander The Men's Program	Sexual harassment policies Domestic violence provisions model clause Sexual and relationship violence prevention included in student services/programs	Equal representation of women in senior/management roles		
Workplaces	Employee health promotion programs	Commitment to DV policies, sexual harassment policies, CEO Challenge	Legislation, e.g. Sex Discrimination Act 1984 (Cwlth), Equal Opportunity Act 1994 (Vic), Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004) (Vic) Equal representation of women in positions of management		
Sporting clubs	Mentors in Violence Prevention	Playing by the Rules (NRL)* Respect and Responsibility (AFL)*	Involvement of sports leaders/mentors in media campaigns against violence		
Community	Sex & Ethics*	Knox Accord	Legislation (e.g. international bystander statutes)		
Social marketing		Know Your Power	White Ribbon Day Strength Campaign		

^{*} indicates program that includes a bystander component, but is not solely directed at bystander behaviours.

5. Measuring the impact of bystander approaches

Evaluation of bystander approaches to the prevention of violence against women is important to better ensure program effectiveness and sustainability. Nonetheless, evaluation is not always sufficiently built into the day-to-day management of many programs and community organisations. Many reasons contribute to the difficulty of incorporating evaluation, including the concern that evaluation may take time and resources away from strategy implementation (Cox et al. 2009) and tertiary responses. There are also important ethical considerations when undertaking evaluation research that may exclude some groups from participation and access to programs as part of the evaluation design (see Powell & Imbesi 2008). Additionally, there has been a history of limited funding and support made available to the community sector for evaluative work. Nonetheless, as many researchers and those working in prevention have noted, there is a clear need both for evaluation of primary prevention of violence against women and additional resourcing for that evaluation to occur. This section briefly considers existing and potential measurement scales and survey instruments that could be adapted for program evaluations.

5.1 Potential measurement scales and survey instruments

While the development of measurement scales and instruments is in the early stages with respect to bystander preventions, literature has variously focused on issues of measurement and evaluation of this prevention work. Certainly, since the 1980s in the US, college education programs have emerged as a key strategy for sexual violence prevention due to a requirement that any college receiving government funding must initiate sexual assault prevention programs on campus. However, rarely are these various programs systematically evaluated. Amongst those that are evaluated, many report only on short-term effects of the program on 'rape-supportive' attitudes (Anderson & Whiston 2005). Indeed, in several previous reviews of the effectiveness of education programs to prevent sexual violence in the college context, attitudinal change was the only indicator of effectiveness that was considered. Such results have clear limitations in terms of assessing the impacts of education programs on potential bystanders to violence against women, or violence-supportive attitudes.

Thus, in a recent review of education programs to prevent sexual violence Anderson and Whiston (2005) comment on the need to include behavioural measures: that is, reports on participants' intention to act or specific actions taken as a result of the program. While not specifically focused on bystander intervention, Anderson and Whiston did find that college education programs to prevent

sexual violence had far better outcomes in terms of participants' self-reported attitudinal change than on measures of behavioural intentions or actions. Such results suggest (perhaps unsurprisingly) that attitudinal change by no means guarantees a resulting change in behaviour.

Furthermore, Warshaw and Davis (1985) discuss a number of different questions to measure an individual's behavioural intentions (such as a likert response to 'I intend to perform behaviour x'; or 'How likely is it that you will perform behaviour x'). Measures of attitude and subjective norm components also appear significant in predicting behaviour, and therefore in evaluating the impact of a bystander program on changes in bystander behaviours. According to Armitage and Conner (2001), measures should also seek to tap the perceived behavioural control (as per the Theory of Planned Behaviour), for example, by asking questions about the perceived inhibitors and facilitators to the intended behaviour.

There appears to be little consistency in terms of various measurement scales used to measure bystander attitudes, intentions and behaviours pre- and post-intervention. Nonetheless, there is a great deal of similarity in the form and nature of the questions used in these scales, which provide a useful framework for future survey-based research (see Appendix 3 for a list of sample survey instruments). The work of Banyard (2008) in particular, provides a number of useful models for measurement of prosocial bystander attitudes and behaviours, as well as evaluating bystander preventions.

5.2 Supporting evaluative research

There is arguably a crucial role for government and other key stakeholders to actively promote partnerships and the building of local agency capacity to carry out evaluative research. Locally, the Research Practice Leader model currently utilised by programs within VicHealth allows evaluators to work alongside practitioners and partner agencies during implementation and actively build the evaluation capacity of project staff and host organisations (VicHealth 2009). In the United States, the Center for Disease Control funds evaluation assistance to programs for the primary prevention of sexual violence, including training and guidance materials to enable agencies and workers to develop skills in conducting their own evaluations (Center for Disease Control 2008).

Practitioner networks are also central to building local evaluation capacity and promoting a shared culture of learning. In the local context the Victorian-based 'Partners in Prevention' network (administered by the Domestic Violence Resource Centre Victoria) provides opportunities, both through an online resource and face-to-face meetings, for prevention workers to share program and

Review of bystander approaches in support of preventing violence against women

evaluation information and resources. There is a need to further support these and other opportunities to build evaluation research capacity in the prevention of violence against women, including bystander approaches.

6. Summary and implications

Based on the literature reviewed it is clear that while still in its early development, there is growing evidence internationally to support bystander approaches as a feature of primary prevention of violence against women in Victoria. Nonetheless, it is crucial that the development of bystander approaches is grounded both in an awareness of the existing evidence regarding effectiveness and continues to contribute to this evidence base through ongoing program development and evaluation. In summary:

- Development of bystander approaches should reflect other known features of effective
 violence prevention programming. Including theory-based program development,
 community engagement, contextualised programming, comprehensive program
 development, skilled and supported program facilitators, mix of single-sex and mixed-sex
 program delivery and incorporation of evaluation.
- Social norms play an important role in facilitating bystander willingness to intervene to
 prevent violence against women. This means that any efforts directed towards promoting
 individual prosocial bystander behaviours should be accompanied by efforts directed at the
 broader social norms that may facilitate or hinder these behaviours.
- In order to decide to intervene, bystanders must first define the situation as requiring intervention and see themselves as personally responsible for intervening. As such, bystander approaches should include information about violence against women and the kinds of situations that support/condone violence against women, as well as encouraging a sense of community and individual responsibility to prevent violence against women.
- Information and attitudinal change alone is not enough to support prosocial bystander behaviours to prevent violence against women. Bystander approaches must include a focus on building participants' skills, capacity and confidence in their capacity to intervene in a range of specific scenarios. This will require programs that provide skill-based training, rather than information or knowledge-based training alone, and programs that create changes in the larger community or organisation so that bystander action is encouraged and positively reinforced.
- Individuals are more likely to intervene when the perceived costs of intervening are low.
 These perceived costs may include the risk of physical violence and/or harassment being directed towards the bystander should they intervene, as well as the social costs where

intervening is perceived as going against peer or social norms (such as loss in status). Bystander approaches must include building participants confidence in *safe* ways to intervene or to seek further support and assistance, as well as promoting organisational and community climates where prosocial bystander behaviours are supported and rewarded.

- Workplaces, schools and community organisations have a greater role to play than just as
 settings for targeting bystander programs towards individuals. These organisations can
 themselves, through their own policies, procedures and management or leadership models,
 become more active prosocial bystanders to violence against women and promote a culture
 that supports active bystander attitudes and behaviours among its members.
- Evaluation strategies can be incorporated into program design and utilised at every stage
 of implementation. Further research and analysis is required to build the evidence base for
 bystander capacity-building models and strategies. This requires evaluation of outcomes and
 the individual and also community/organisational levels.

As a component of an integrated strategy for the prevention of violence against women, then, a focus on bystanders has a number of potential positive outcomes. Bystander approaches can foster social norms regarding the unacceptability of violence against women at individual, community and societal levels, as well as promoting a shared sense of responsibility for preventing sexual and intimate partner violence. At the organisational level and within specific community settings, bystander approaches can reduce the perceived costs of intervening to prevent violence against women (whether in the moment, or by challenging attitudes/behaviours that support violence) by creating a climate that supports non-violence and those who promote non-violence. Organisations and community settings can also feature specific bystander programs to promote attitudinal and behavioural change among individuals, and to build people's capacity and skills to respond as prosocial bystanders. In addition, by appealing to individuals and communities as having a role and responsibility for the prevention of violence (and not only as potential victims or perpetrators) the inclusion of bystander approaches in a broader framework for the prevention of violence against women has the potential to improve receptivity to additional specific violence-prevention messages (see Banyard et al. 2004).

7. Next steps

Due to the underdeveloped nature of specific bystander approaches to the prevention of violence against women in the Australian context, there is scope for funding and development of bystander approaches and resources to support this work in Victoria. Additionally, many of the program curricula and resources used in leading programs internationally are available only on a paid service basis. Thus there is a lack of publicly available resources to further support development of bystander approaches.

In light of this, there are a number of activities (including potential resource development) that could be undertaken to support and promote development and uptake of bystander approaches to the prevention of violence against women in Victoria. For instance:

- develop (drawing on existing scales) and conduct survey research into community
 willingness (attitudes), readiness (skills) and barriers to intervening as a bystander to prevent
 violence against women, both at the individual and community/organisational levels
- direct research to focus on the primary prevention effects of bystander action, and the orientation of bystanders towards social norms and systemic gender inequality as opposed to violence itself
- conduct, document and evaluate 'demonstration' projects across key priority settings;
 contextualise international models to local contexts (university, school, workplace, sports club, other community settings); and assess the most effective strategies to incorporate bystander projects into broader prevention programs
- create a web-based resource collating existing materials (including an annotated bibliography/evidence base); links to programs and resources; 'best practice' guides for developing/implementing/evaluating bystander approaches; as well as drawing together local projects and promoting information-sharing and collaboration
- support training/development by incorporation of bystander approaches within training
 modules (e.g. linking with international training providers); fund a train-the-trainers
 program bringing in international bystander education experts to run workshops for
 professionals and community educators in Victoria, to promote professional development in
 this specific field.

Appendix 1: List of search terms used

```
Bystander
Bystander + "sexual violence"
Bystander + "sexual violence" + prevention
Bystander + "violence against women"
Bystander + "violence against women" + prevention
Bystander + survey
Bystander + theory
Bystander + routine activity theory
Bystander + crime prevention
Bystander + violence prevention
Community attitudes survey + violence against women + Australia
Community attitudes survey + intimate partner violence + Australia
"Dating violence" + prevention
"Domestic violence" + prevention
"Intimate partner violence" + prevention
Peer education
Peer education + bystander
"Prosocial behaviour" + violence
"Prosocial bystander" + violence
"Prosocial bystander" + violence + prevention
Rape + prevention
Rape + prevention + education
"Routine activity theory"
"Sexual violence" + prevention
"Sexual violence" + prevention + education
```

Victorian Health Promotion Foundation

"Theory of planned behaviour"

"Theory of planned behaviour" + bystander

"Theory of planned behaviour" + bystander + intervention

"Theory of planned behaviour" + violence + prevention

"Theory or moral disengagement"

"Theory of reasoned action"

"Violence against women" + prevention

"Violence against women" + prevention + education

Appendix 2: List of bystander programs and resources

Program/resource	Brief description	Source/materials
title	•	
American College Health Association, Toolkit for Primary Prevention of Sexual Violence	American College Health Association, Toolkit for Primary Prevention of Details strategies and resources for preventing sexual violence on university/college campuses.	
Bringing in the Bystander	Peer education model in the university setting, where participants learn about the role of active bystanders in communities, information about sexual violence and learn and practise appropriate and safe prevention skills	www.unh.edu/preven tioninnovations/media /pdfs/Rapeprevention throughbystandereduc ation.pdf
CEO Challenge – Workplace partners against domestic violence	Initiative to encourage business to support intimate partner violence services and promote awareness of this issue in their organisation and in the wider community.	http://ceochallengeau stralia.org/
CPSU (Community and Public Sector Union) draft Domestic Violence clause	An initiative to introduce leave and other entitlements into workplace enterprise agreements to support victims of family violence	www.psa.labor.net.au /news/files/DV%20dra ft%20clause%2010041 5.pdf
Family Violence Prevention Fund	Provides a range of resources, information about education programs and campaigns, including some with a bystander focus	www.endabuse.org
Knox Accord to End Violence Against Women	A statement about Knox Council's commitment to oppose all forms of violence against women	www.kchs.org.au/kno xaccord/ City of Knox (2007)
Know Your Power: Step In, Speak Up	Social marketing campaign (associated with the 'Bringing in the Bystander' program)	www.unh.edu/preven tioninnovations/media /pdfs/Rapeprevention throughbystandereduc ation.pdf www.higheredcenter. org/prevention/examp les/university-new-hampshire
Men Against Sexual Assault (MASA)	Men Against Sexual Assault (MASA) is an organisation of men working within a pro-feminist framework towards the elimination of sexual violence The organisation seeks to challenge men to be accountable for their participation in sexist, racist and homophobic behaviour	Pease and Velazquez, (1993).

Man Can Stan	Combination of accial manufacting and advantion	www.mencanstoprape
Men Can Stop		
Rape: Strength	workshops; seeks to engage young men to prevent	.org/index.htm
Campaign	men's violence against women by supporting their	MACCD (2007)
	capacity to challenge harmful aspects of traditional	MCSR (2007)
	masculinity, to value alternative visions of male	
	strength, and to embrace their role as allies with	
	women and girls in fostering healthy relationships and	
Mentors in	gender equity 'Utilizing a bystander approach to prevention, the	www.iackconkatz.com
Violence	MVP program views student-athletes and student	www.jacksonkatz.com /aboutmvp.html
Prevention	leaders not as potential perpetrators or victims, but as	/aboutinvp.ntini
rievention	empowered bystanders who can confront abusive	
	peers'	
National Sexual	Includes various programs, campaigns and online	www.nsvrc.org/projec
Violence Resource	resources to support bystander intervention for the	ts/150/bystander-
Center (US):	prevention of sexual violence.	intervention-resources
Bystander	The second of th	
Intervention		
Resources		
Northern Interfaith	An initiative to build the capacity of faith leaders and	www.darebin.vic.gov.a
Respectful	faith communities to actively promote respectful	u/Page/Page.asp?Page
Relationships	relationships.	_ld=8049
Project	·	
Playing by the	'Mentors in Violence Prevention' component to train	
Rules (National	players as peer educators in clubs	
Rugby League)		
Respect and	The Respect and Responsibility Policy represents the	www.afl.com.au/Resp
Responsibility	Australian Football League's commitment to	ect%20and%20Respon
(Australian	addressing violence against women and to work	sibility/tabid/10321/d
Football League)	towards creating safe, supportive and inclusive	efault.aspx
	environments for women and girls across the football	
	industry as well as the broader community	
Sexual Assault	The SAPPSS model is a whole-school, long-term	www.casahouse.com. au/index.php?page_id
Prevention	, ,	
Program for	partnership with secondary schools to incorporate	=172
Secondary Schools	prevention into all aspects of school life. The SAPPSS	Imbosi (2000)
(SAPPSS)	model includes a peer leader/educator component	Imbesi (2008)
See it and Stop it	Information campaign informing young people about relationship violence, and encouraging them to 'see it	www.seeitandstopit.o rg/pages/getorg/galler
	and stop it' and get involved in their local community	y.html
Sex and Ethics	Sex and Ethics provides a comprehensive education	www.sexualethics.org.
JEA UNU LUNGS	program to engage young people in learning about	
	sex, ethics and relationships and includes a bystander	au/
	component	Carmody (2009)
Step Up!	University of Arizona program aimed at encouraging	www.stepupprogram.
	students' intervention as active bystander across a	org/
	range of issues including discrimination, relationship	- · OI
	and sexual violence	
<u> </u>	aa coaar violetioe	

Review of bystander approaches in support of preventing violence against women

The Men's Program	Peer education model, targeted at university men, to support their capacity to be effective bystanders <i>post</i> sexual violence against women (e.g. by supporting victims)	Foubert (2005)
VicHealth Respect, Responsibility and Equality Program	VicHealth is currently working with partner organisations to develop evidence-based primary prevention models in a range of settings	www.vichealth.vic.gov .au/en/Programs-and- Projects/Freedom- from-violence.aspx
White Ribbon Campaign	The White Ribbon Foundation of Australia undertakes a national media campaign as well as education and male leadership programs aimed at men and boys around Australia	www.whiteribbonday. org.au/

Appendix 3: Example bystander surveys/scales

Scale title/s Source

Knowledge and attitudes about sexual violence:

Knowledge Assessment (Banyard et al. 2007)
Illinois Rape Myth Acceptance Scale—Short Form (Payne, Lonsway and Fitzgerald 1999)

College Date Rape Attitude Survey (Lanier and Elliott 1997)

Bystander attitudes and behaviour:

Bystander Attitudes (Banyard et al. 2007) Bystander Behaviors (Banyard et al. 2007) Bystander Efficacy Scale (Banyard et al. 2007) Slaby Bystander Efficacy Scale (Slaby, Wilson-Brewer and DeVos 1994)

MVP Efficacy Scale (Ward 2001)

Decisional Balance Scale (Banyard et al. 2007)

Person-level correlates:

Sense of Community (Unger and Wandersman 1982) Perceived Control (Paulhus 1983) Extroversion (John & Srivastava 1999)

Barriers to Sexual Assault Bystander Intervention (Burn 2006); Bystander Intervention Behavior (Burn 2006).

'SEV Scale' (designed to measure the level of efficacy students have regarding their own ability to speak out against gender violence and sexism and to intervene in potentially dangerous situations involving male violence).

Questions about prevalence of student sexual coercion, and student 'readiness to respond' (Rigby and Johnson 2004); Attitudes to Victims Scale (Rigby and Slee 1991); Social Desirability Scale (Eysenck 1965).

Bystander Survey Instrument

Banyard, V. L. (2008) 'Measurement and Correlates of Prosocial Bystander Behaviour: The case of interpersonal violence', Violence and Victims, 23(1):

83-97.

Burn, S. M. (2009). 'A Situational Model of Sexual Assault Prevention through Bystander Intervention'. Sex Roles 60: 779–792.

Ward, K. (2001). Mentors in Violence Prevention, Evaluation 1999/2000: www.sportinsociety.org/files/ mvp-evaluation1.pdf

Rigby, K. and B. Johnson (2004). 'Students as Bystanders to Sexual Coercion'. Youth Studies, Australia 23: 11–6.

Step Up Program:

www.stepupprogram.org/docs /STEPUP_BystanderSurvey_Ins

trument.pdf

Bibliography

- Abbey, A. (2005). 'Lessons learned and unanswered questions about sexual assault perpetration'. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 20(1): 39-42.
- Aboud, F. and Joong, A. (2008), 'Intergroup name-calling and conditions for creating assertive bystanders', in S. Levy & M. Killen (Eds), *Intergroup attitudes and relations in childhood through adulthood*, New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 249–260.
- Adair, J. (2006). 'The efficacy of sexual violence prevention programs: Implications for school'. *Journal of School Violence*, 5(2): 87-97.
- AFL (Australian Football League) (2010). *Respect and Responsibility*. Melbourne, www.afl.com.au/respect%20and%20responsibility/tabid/10321/default.aspx.
- Anderson, L. A. and S. C. Whiston (2005). 'Sexual assault education programs: A meta-analytic examination of their effectiveness.' *Psychology of Women Quarterly* 29(4): 374.
- Andreasen, A. R. (1994). 'Social marketing: Its definition and domain.' *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 13(1): 108–114.
- Armitage, C. J. and M. Conner (2001). 'Efficacy of the theory of planned behaviour: A meta-analytic review.' *British Journal of Social Psychology* 40(4): 471–499.
- Asch, S. E. (1956). 'Studies of independence and conformity: I. A minority of one against a unanimous majority'. *Psychological Monographs*, 70(3), No. 416.
- Ashburn-Nardo, L., Morris, K. & Goodwin, S. 2008, 'The Confronting Prejudiced Responses (CPR) Model: Applying CPR in organizations'. *Academy of Management Learning and Education*, 7(3): 332–342.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (2006). *Personal Safety Survey*. Canberra, Commonwealth Government of Australia.
- Australian Human Rights Commission (2008). Sexual Harassment: Serious Business. Results of the 2008 Sexual Harassment National Telephone Survey. Sydney, Australian Human Rights Commission.
- Bagby, J. (1999). 'Justifications for state bystander intervention statutes: Why crime witnesses should be required to call for help.' *Indiana Law Review.* 33(2): 571.
- Bandura, A. (1973). Agression: A Social Learning Analysis. Oxford, England: Prentice Hall.
- Banyard, V. L. (2008). 'Measurement and correlates of prosocial bystander behavior: The case of interpersonal violence.' *Violence and Victims* 23(1): 83–97.
- Banyard, V. L., Eckstein, R. P. and Moynihan, M. M. (2009). 'Sexual Violence Prevention: The Role of Stages of Change.' *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 25(1): 111-135.
- Banyard, V. L., Moynihan, M. M. et al. (2007). 'Sexual violence prevention through bystander education: An experimental evaluation.' *Journal of Community Psychology* 35(4): 463.

- Banyard, V. L., Moynihan, M. M. et al. (2009). 'Reducing Sexual Violence on Campus: The Role of Student Leaders as Empowered Bystanders.' *Journal of College Student Development* 50(4): 12.
- Banyard, V. L., Plante, E. G. et al. (2004). 'Bystander education: Bringing a broader community perspective to sexual violence prevention.' *Journal of Community Psychology* 32(1): 61–79.
- Banyard, V. L., Plante, E. G. et al. (2005). 'Revisiting unwanted sexual experiences on campus: A 12-year follow-up.' *Violence Against Women* 11(4): 426.
- Barone, R. P., Wolgemuth, J. R. et al. (2007). 'Preventing Sexual Assault Through Engaging College Men.' *Journal of College Student Development* 48: 585–594.
- Beardall, N. G. (2008). A program evaluation research study on the implementation of the Mentors in Violence Prevention program in a public high school, Lesley University.
- Berkowitz, A. D. (2003). *The Social Norms Approach: Theory, Research and Annotated Bibliography*. Available at: www.alanberkowitz.com/articles/social_norms.pdf
- Berkowitz, A. D. (2004). Working with Men to Prevent Violence Against Women: Program Modalities and Formats (Part Two). National Resource Centre on Domestic Violence: VAWnet Applied Research Forum, October 1.
- Berkowitz, A. D. and Consultant I. (2006). 'Fostering healthy norms to prevent violence and abuse: the social norms approach.' *Preventing Sexual Violence and Exploitation: A Sourcebook (2007),* Wood and Barnes Publishers, Oklahoma City, Ok.
- Berkowitz, A. D., Jaffe, P. et al. (2003). 'Young men as allies in preventing violence and abuse:

 Building effective partnerships with schools.' *Building Partnerships to End Men's Violence. San Francisco, CA: FVPF.http://endabuse.org/bpi/discussion4.php*.
- Berkowitz, A. D., Jaffe, P. et al. (2004). 'Young Men as Allies in Preventing Violence and Abuse:

 Building Effective Partnerships with Schools.' *National Electronic Network on Violence Against Women*.
- Berkowitz, L., and L. R. Daniels (1963). 'Responsibility and dependency'. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 66(5): 429-436.
- Biel, A. and J. Thøgersen (2007). 'Activation of social norms in social dilemmas: A review of the evidence and reflections on the implications for environmental behaviour.' *Journal of Economic Psychology* 28(1): 93–112.
- Bond, M. A. (1995). 'Prevention and the ecology of sexual harassment: Creating empowering climates'. *Sexual assault and abuse: Sociocultural context of prevention*. New York, Haworth Press: 147–173.
- Brecklin, L. R. and Forde D. R. (2001). 'A meta-analysis of rape education programs.' *Violence and Victims* 16(3): 303–321.

- Brown, J. D. and Einsiedel E. F. (1990). 'Public health campaigns: Mass media strategies'.

 Communication and health: Systems and applications. New Jersey, Lawrence Erlbaum: 153–170.
- Brunet, J. R. (2002). 'Discouragement of crime through civil remedies: An application of a reformulated routine activities theory.' W. Criminology Rev. 4: 68.
- Burn, S. M. (2009). 'A Situational Model of Sexual Assault Prevention through Bystander Intervention.' *Sex Roles* 60(11): 779–792.
- Carlson, M. (2008). 'I'd Rather Go Along and Be Considered A Man: Masculinity and Bystander Intervention.' *The Journal of Men's Studies* 16(1): 3–17.
- Carmody, M. (2004). 'Sexual ethics and the erotics of consent'. In M. Cowling and P. Reynolds (Eds.), *Making Sense of Sexual Consent*. Burlington, VT: Ashgate Publishing, pp.45-56.
- Carmody, M. (2006). 'Preventing adult sexual violence through education.' *Current Issues Crim. Just.* 18: 342.
- Carmody, M. (2009). 'Conceptualising the prevention of sexual assault and the role of education'. *ACSSA Issues*. Melbourne, Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault.
- Carmody, M., Evans, S. et al. (2009). Framing best practice: National Standards for the primary prevention of sexual assault through education. Sydney, University of Western Sydney.
- Casey, E. A. and Lindhorst T. P. (2009). 'Toward a Multi-Level, Ecological Approach to the Primary Prevention of Sexual Assault: Prevention in Peer and Community Contexts.' *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse* 10(2): 91.
- Center for Disease Control (2008). Evaluation Working Group, www.cdc.gov/eval/resources.htm; (Accessed 2 March 2011).
- Chabot, H. F., Tracy, T. L. et al. (2009). 'Sex, Attribution, and Severity Influence Intervention

 Decisions of Informal Helpers in Domestic Violence.' *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 24(10): 1696.
- Chen, M. Y., Karvelas, M. et al. (2007). 'Evidence for the effectiveness of a chlamydia awareness campaign: increased population rates of chlamydia testing and detection.' *International journal of STD & AIDS* 18(4): 239.
- City of Knox (2007). Knox Accord to End Violence Against Women. Mebourne, City of Knox.
- Clarke, D. (2003). Pro-social and anti-social behaviour, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Clinton-Sherrod, A. M., Morgan-Lopez, A. A. et al. (2009). 'Factors contributing to the effectiveness of four school-based sexual violence interventions.' *Health Promotion Practice* 10(1 suppl): 19S.
- Cohen, L. E. and Felson M. (1979). 'Social change and crime rate trends: A routine activity approach.' American sociological review 44(4): 588–608.
- Collins, R. (2008). *Violence: a micro-sociological theory*, Princeton Univ Pr.

- Commonwealth of Australia (2011). *National Plan to Reduce Violence Against Women and their Children*. Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia.
- Cowie, H. and N. Hutson (2005). 'Peer support: A strategy to help bystanders challenge school bullying.' *Pastoral Care in Education* 23(2): 40–44.
- Cox, P., Keener, D. et al. (2009). 'Evaluation for Improvement: A Seven Step Empowerment Evaluation Approach for Violence Prevention Organizations'. Atlanta (GA), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Crooks, C. V., Goodall, G. R. et al. (2007). 'Engaging Men and Boys in Preventing Violence Against Women: Applying a Cognitive-Behavioral Model.' *Violence Against Women* 13(3): 217.
- Darley, J. M., & Latané, B. (1968). 'Bystander intervention in emergencies: Diffusion of responsibility'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 8, 377–383.
- De Keseredy, W. S. and K. Kelly (1995). 'Sexual abuse in Canadian university and college dating relationships: The contribution of male peer support.' *Journal of Family Violence* 10(1): 41–53.
- De Keseredy, W. S. and Schwartz M. D. (2000). 'The Role of Profeminist Men in Dealing With Woman Abuse on the Canadian College Campus.' *Violence Against Women* 6(9): 918–935.
- Deeds, J. M. (2009). 'Attracting college men to sexual violence prevention: A multiple case study of male peer educators'. Unpublished thesis submitted to the University of Nebraska at Lincoln, Department of Educational Administration. Available at: http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/cehsedaddiss/15.
- Delaney, A., Lough, B.et al. (2004). *A Review of Mass Media Campaigns in Road Safety*. Monash University, Victoria: Monash University Accident Research Centre.
- Donovan, R. and Henley N. (2004). 'Social marketing: principles and practice.' *Social Marketing Quarterly* 10(1): 31–34.
- Donovan, R.J. and Vlais, R. (2005). Review of Communication Components of Social Marketing/Public Education Campaigns Focusing on Violence Against Women. Report to VicHealth, Melbourne, Australia.
- Dovidio, J. F., Piliavin, J. A. et al. (2006). *The social psychology of prosocial behavior*, Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Dusenbury, L., Falco, M. et al. (1997). 'Nine critical elements of promising violence prevention programs.' *Journal of School Health* 67(10): 409–414.
- Dyson, S., Mitchell, A., Smith, A., Dowsett, G., Pitts, M., and Hillier, L. (2003). *Don't Ask, Don't Tell:*Hidden in the Crowd: The Need for Documenting Links between Sexuality and Suicidial

 Behaviours among Young People. Monograph series No. 45, The Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society, La Trobe University, Melbourne.
- Dyson, S. and Flood M. (2008). *Building Cultures of Respect and Non-Violence*. Victoria: Australian Football League and VicHealth.

- Eagly, A. H. (2009). 'The his and hers of prosocial behavior: An examination of the social psychology of gender.' *American Psychologist* 64(8): 644–658.
- Edwards, R. W., Jumper-Thurman, P.et al. (2000). 'The Community Readiness Model: Research to Practice.' *Journal of Community Psychology* 28(3): 291–307.
- Egger, G., Donovan, R.J. and Spark, R., 1993. *Health and the Media: Principles and Practice for Health Promotion.* McGraw-Hill, Sydney.
- Elder, R. W., Shults, R. A. et al. (2004). 'Effectiveness of mass media campaigns for reducing drinking and driving and alcohol-involved crashes:: A systematic review.' *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 27(1): 57–65.
- Epstein, J. (2002). 'Breaking the code of silence: Bystanders to campus violence and the law of college and university safety.' *Stetson L. Rev.* 32: 91.
- Eysenck, S. (1965). 'A new scale for personality measurement in children'. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 35: 362-367.
- Fabiano, P. M., McKinney, G. R., Rhoads, K., and Stark, C. (2000). WWU Lifestyles Project IV: Patterns of Alcohol and Drug Consumption and Consequences Among Western Washington University Students. Available at:

 http://west.wwu.edu/institutional_research/documents/Lifestyles_2000-02.pdf
- Fabiano, P. M., Perkins, H. W. et al. (2003). 'Engaging men as social justice allies in ending violence against women: Evidence for a social norms approach.' *Journal of American College Health* 52(3): 105–112.
- Fishbein, M. and Ajzen I. (1975). *Belief, attitude, intention and behavior: An introduction to theory and research*. Reading, MA, Addison-Wesley.
- Fishbein, M. and I. Ajzen (2010). *Predicting and Changing Behavior: The Reasoned Action Approach*. New York, Psychology Press (Taylor & Francis).
- Flood, M. (2004). Changing Men: Best Practice in Violence Prevention Work with Men. Home Truths Conference: Stop sexual assault and domestic violence: A national challenge, Melbourne, 15-17 September.
- Flood, M. and Fergus L. (2008). An assault on our future: the impact of violence on young people and their relationships, White Ribbon Day Foundation.
- Flood, M., Fergus, L. et al. (2009). *Respectful Relationships Education: Violence prevention and respectful relationships education in Victorian secondary schools*. Melbourne, State of Victoria (Department of Education and Early Childhood Development).
- Foubert, J. (2005). *The men's program: A peer education guide to rape prevention*. New York, Brunner-Routledge.
- Foubert, J. D., Godin, E. E. et al. (2009). 'In Their Own Words: Sophomore College Men Describe

 Attitude and Behavior Changes Resulting From a Rape Prevention Program 2 Years After Their

 Participation.' Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 25(12): 2237-2257.

- Foubert, J. D. and Newberry T. J. (2006). 'Effects of two versions of an empathy-based rape prevention program on fraternity menís survivor empathy, attitudes, and behavioral intent to commit rape or sexual assault.' *Journal of College Student Development* 47(2): 133–148.
- Foubert, J. D., Newberry, J. T. et al. (2007). 'Behavior Differences Seven Months Later: Effects of a Rape Prevention Program.' *NASPA* 44(4): 728.
- Foubert, J. D. and Perry B. C. (2007). 'Creating lasting attitude and behavior change in fraternity members and male student athletes: The qualitative impact of an empathy-based rape prevention program.' *Violence Against Women* 13(1): 70.
- Foubert, J., Tabachnick, J. et al. (2006). Encouraging Bystander Intervention for Sexual Violence Prevention, unpublished manuscript.
- Foubert, J. D., Tatum, J. L. et al. (2006). 'Reactions of first-year men to a rape prevention program: Attitude and predicted behavior changes.' *NASPA Journal* 43(3): 21.
- French, J. R. P., and Raven, B. H. (1959). The bases of social power. In D. Cartwright (Ed.) *Studies in Social Power*. Institute for Social Research: Ann Arbor, MI, 150-167.
- Givelber, J. R. (1998). 'Imposing Duties on Witnesses to Child Sexual Abuse: A Futile Response to Bystander Indifference.' *Fordham Law Review*. 67: 3169.
- Gracia, E., García, F. et al. (2009). 'Public Responses to Intimate Partner Violence Against Women: The Influence of Perceived Severity and Personal Responsibility.' *The Spanish Journal of Psychology* 12(2): 648–656.
- Graffunder, C. M., Noonan, R. K. et al. (2004). 'Through a public health lens. Preventing violence against women: An update from the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.' *Journal of Women's Health* 13(1): 5–16.
- Grier, S. and Bryant C. A. (2004). 'Social marketing in public health.' *Annual Review of Public Health*, 26: 319-339.
- Hammond, D., Fong, G. T. et al. (2006). 'Effectiveness of cigarette warning labels in informing smokers about the risks of smoking: findings from the International Tobacco Control (ITC) Four Country Survey.' *Tobacco Control* 15(suppl 3).
- Harada, J. (1985). 'Bystander intervention: The effect of ambiguity of the helping situation and the interpersonal relationship between bystanders.' *Japanese Psychological Research*, *27*(4): 177–184.
- Hart, T. C. and Miethe T. D. (2008). 'Exploring Bystander Presence and Intervention in Nonfatal Violent Victimization: When Does Helping Really Help?' Violence and Victims 23(5): 637–651.
- Harvey, A., Garcia-Moreno, C. et al. (2007). *Primary prevention of intimate-partner violence and sexual violence: Background paper for WHO expert meeting May 2–3, 2007*. World Health Organization. Geneva.
- Hastings, G. and Saren M. (2003). 'The critical contribution of social marketing: Theory and application.' *Marketing Theory* 3(3): 305.

- Hawkins, S. R. (2005). *Evaluation Findings: Men Can Stop Rape, Men of Strength Clubs 2004-2005*. Available at: www.mencanstoprape.org/info-url2696/info-url show.htm?doc id=236151
- Hayes, P. (2004). *Taking it seriously: Contemporary experiences of sexual harassment in the workplace. Research report 2003/2004*. Melbourne, Working Against Sexual Harassment.
- Hirschberger, G., Ein-Dor, T. et al. (2008). 'The self-protective altruist: Terror management and the ambivalent nature of prosocial behavior.' *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 34(5): 666.
- Hitlan, R. T., Schneider, K. T. et al. (2006). 'Upsetting behavior: Reactions to personal and bystander sexual harassment experiences.' *Sex Roles* 55(3): 187–195.
- Hornik, R. C. (2002). 'Exposure: Theory and Evidence About All the Ways it Matters'. *Social Marketing Quarterly*, 8(3): 30-37.
- Hurley, S. F. and Matthews J. P. (2008). 'Cost-effectiveness of the Australian national tobacco campaign.' *Tobacco control* 17(6): 379.
- Hyers, L. (2007), 'Resisting prejudice every day: Exploring women's assertive responses to anti-Black racism, anti-Semitism, heterosexism, and sexism', Sex Roles, 56(1), 1–12.
- Hyland, A., Wakefield, M. et al. (2006). 'Anti-tobacco television advertising and indicators of smoking cessation in adults: a cohort study.' *Health education research* 21(3): 348.
- Hymel, S., Rocke-Henderson, N. et al. (2005). 'Moral disengagement: A framework for understanding bullying among adolescents.' *J Social Sci Spec*: 8.
- Imbesi, R. (2008). *CASA House Sexual Assault Prevention Program for Secondary Schools (SAPPSS) Report*. Melbourne, Royal Women's Hospital.
- Indermaur, D. (2001). 'Young Australians and domestic violence.' *Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice* 195.
- Janson, G. R. and R. J. Hazler (2004). 'Trauma reactions of bystanders and victims to repetitive abuse experiences.' *Violence and Victims* 19(2): 239–255.
- John, O. P., and Srivastava, S. (1999). 'The big five trait taxonomy: History, measurement and theoretical perspectives.' In L. A. Pervin & O. P. John (Eds.), *Handbook of Personality: Theory and Research*. New York: The Guilford Press, pp.102-131.
- Johnson, H. (2007). 'Preventing violence against women: Progress and challenges.' *Revue de l* 1: 69–88.
- Johnston, T. C., Clark, M. J. et al. (2003). 'Factors influencing Queenslanders' willingness to perform bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation.' *Resuscitation* 56(1): 67–75.
- Katz, J. (2003). 'Building a "big tent" approach to ending men's violence.' *Building Partners Initiative*, US Department of Justice. Retrieved January 29, 2005.
- Kilmartin, C. T., Conway, A., Friedberg, A., McQuiod, T., Tschan, P., and Norbet, T. (1999). *Using the Social Norms Model to Encourage Male College Students to Challenge Rape Supportive*

- Attitudes in Male Peers. Paper presented at the Virginia Psychological Association Spring Conference, Virginia Beach, VA.
- Kilmartin, C., Smith, T. et al. (2008). 'A real time social norms intervention to reduce male sexism.' Sex Roles 59(3): 264–273.
- Kelman, H. C. (1958). 'Compliance, identification and internalization three processes of attitude chance'. *The Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 2(1): 51-60.
- Kotler, P., Roberto, N. et al. (2002). *Social marketing: Improving the quality of life*, Sage Publications, Inc.
- Kotler, P. and Zaltman G. (1971). 'Social Marketing: An Approach to Planned Social Change.' *The Journal of Marketing* 35(3): 3–12.
- Krupka, E. and Weber R. A. (2009). 'The focusing and informational effects of norms on pro-social behavior.' *Journal of Economic Psychology* 30(3): 307–320.
- Laner, M. R., Benin, M. H. et al. (2001). 'Bystander attitudes toward victims of violence: who's worth helping?' *Deviant Behavior* 22(1): 23–42.
- Langford, L. (n.d.). *Preventing Violence and Promoting Safety in Higher Education Settings*, US Department of Education.
- Lanier, C. A. and Elliott, M. N. (1997). A new instrument for the evaluation of a date rape prevention program. *Journal of College Student Development*, 38: 673-676.
- Latané, B. and Darley, J. (1970). *The unresponsive bystander: Why doesn't he help?* New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Lee, D. S., Guy, L. et al. (2007). 'Sexual violence prevention.' *The Prevention Researcher* 14(2): 15–20.
- Lefebvre, R. C. (1992). 'The social marketing imbroglio in health promotion.' *Health Promotion International* 7(1): 61.
- Levine, M. (2003). 'Researching violence: Power, social relations and the virtues of the experimental method.' In R. M. Lee and E. A. Stanko (Eds.), *Researching Violence: Essays on Methodology and Measurement*. London: Routledge, pp.126-136.
- Levine, M. and S. Crowther (2008). 'The responsive bystander: How social group membership and group size can encourage as well as inhibit bystander intervention.' *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 95(6): 1429–1439.
- Levine, M., Prosser, A., Evans, D. and Reicher, S. (2005), 'Identity and emergency intervention: How social group membership and inclusiveness of group boundaries shape helping behavior', *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 31(4), 443–453.
- Levine, M. and Thompson K. (2004). 'Identity, place, and bystander intervention: Social categories and helping after natural disasters.' *The journal of social psychology* 144(3): 229–245.

- Lindenberg, S., Fetchenhauer, D. et al. (2006). 'Solidarity and Prosocial Behavior: A Framing Approach.' In D. Fetchenhauer, A. Flache, B. Buunk and S. Lindenberg (Eds.), *Solidarity and Prosocial Behavior*. New York: Springer, pp. 3-19.
- Loh, C., Orchowski, L. M. et al. (2007). 'Socialization and sexual aggression in college men: The role of observational influence in detecting risk cues.' *Psychology Of Men And Masculinity* 8(3): 129.
- Lynch, A. and Fleming W. M. (2005). 'Bystander Approaches: Empowering Students to Model Ethical Sexual Behavior.' *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences* 97(3): 7.
- McGregor, K. (2009). *National Community Attitudes Toward Violence Against Women: A Full Technical Report.* Canberra, Australian Institute of Criminology.
- McMahon, S. and G. L. Farmer (2009). 'The Bystander Approach: Strengths-Based Sexual Assault Prevention With At-Risk Groups.' *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment* 19(8): 1042–1065.
- Mellanby, A. R., Rees, J. B. et al. (2000). 'Peer-led and adult-led school health education: a critical review of available comparative research.' *Health education research* 15(5): 533.
- Messerschmidt, J. W. (1993). *Masculinities and crime: Critique and reconceptualization of theory,* Rowman & Littlefield Pub Inc.
- Milgram, S. (1974). Obedience to Authority: An Experimental View. London: Tavistock.
- Miner-Rubino, K. and L. M. Cortina (2004). 'Working in a context of hostility toward women: Implications for employees' well-being.' *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 9: 107–122.
- Mouzos, J. & Makkai, T. (2004). Women's experiences of male violence: findings of the Australian component of the International Violence Against Women Survey (IVAWS). Canberra, Australian Institute of Criminology.
- Moynihan, M. M. and V. L. Banyard (2008). 'Community Responsibility for Preventing Sexual Violence: A Pilot Study with Campus Greeks and Intercollegiate Athletes.' *Journal of prevention & intervention in the community* 36(1): 23–38.
- Mudde, A. N., Hoefnagels, C. J. et al. (2007). 'Bystanding an abused child: testing the applicability of the stages of change construct.' *Health education research* 22(1): 128.
- Murray, S. and A. Powell (2008). *Working it out: domestic violence issues and the workplace*. Sydney, Australian Domestic and Family Violence Clearinghouse.
- National Council to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children (2009a). *The Cost of Violence against Women and their Children. Canberra*, Commonwealth of Australia.
- National Council to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children (2009b). *Time for Action:*The National Council's Plan for Australia to Reduce Violence Against Women and their

 Children, 2009–2021. Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia.

- Naylor, P., and Cowie, H. (1999). 'The effectiveness of peer support systems in challenging school bullying: the perspectives and experiences of teachers and pupils'. *Journal of Adolescence*, 22(4):467-479.
- Nelson J, Dunn K, Paradies Y, Pedersen A, Sharpe S, Hynes M, & Guerin B (2010) *Review of bystander approaches in support of preventing race-based discrimination*. Carlton, Victorian Heath Promotion Foundation (VicHealth).
- Noar, S. M. (2006). 'A 10-year retrospective of research in health mass media campaigns: Where do we go from here?' *Journal of Health Communication* 11(1): 21–42.
- Noonan, R. K. and Charles D. (2009). 'Developing teen dating violence prevention strategies: Formative research with middle school youth.' *Violence Against Women* 15(9): 1087.
- Noonan, R. K. and Gibbs D. (2009). 'Empowerment evaluation with programs designed to prevent first-time male perpetration of sexual violence.' *Health Promot Pract* 10.
- O'Donohue, W., Yeater, E. A. et al. (2003). 'Rape prevention with college males: The roles of rape myth acceptance, victim empathy, and outcome expectancies.' *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 18(5): 513.
- O'Leary-Kelly, A. M. and Bowes-Sperry L. (2001). 'Sexual harassment as unethical behavior: The role of moral intensity.' *Human Resource Management Review* 11(1–2): 73–92.
- O'Leary-Kelly, A. M., Bowes-Sperry, L. et al. (2009). 'Sexual Harassment at Work: A Decade (Plus) of Progress.' *Journal of Management* 35(3): 503.
- O'Leary-Kelly, A. M., Tiedt, P. et al. (2004). 'Answering accountability questions in sexual harassment: Insights regarding harassers, targets, and observers.' *Human Resource Management Review* 14(1): 85–106.
- O'Sullivan, C. (1998). 'Ladykillers: Similarities and divergences of masculinities in gang rape and wife battery.' *Research on Men And Masculinities series* 10: 82–110.
- Orchowski, L. M., Gidycz, C. A. et al. (2008). 'Evaluation of a sexual assault risk reduction and self-defense program: A prospective analysis of a revised protocol.' *Psychology of Women Quarterly* 32(2): 204–218.
- Ottens, A. J. and Hotelling K. (2000). *Sexual violence on campus: policies, programs, and perspectives*. New York, Springer Publishing Company.
- Paulhus, D. (1983). 'Sphere-specific measures of perceived control'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 44(6):1253-1265.
- Payne, D. L., Lonsway, K. A., and Fitzgerald, L. F. (1999). Rape myth acceptance: Exploration of its structure and its measurement using the Illinois Rape Myth Acceptance Scale. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 33(1):27-68.
- Pease, B. B. (2008). 'Engaging men in men's violence prevention: Exploring the tensions, dilemmas and possibilities.' *Australian Domestic & Family Violence Clearinghouse*.

- Pease, B. B. and Velazquez J. C. (1993). *Talking to Men in the Workplace about Sexual Assault against Women. Without Consent: Confronting Adult Sexual Violence*, Canberra, Australian Institute of Criminology.
- Potter, S. J., Moynihan, M. M. et al. (2009). 'Empowering bystanders to prevent campus violence against women: A preliminary evaluation of a poster campaign.' *Violence Against Women* 15(1): 106.
- Potter, S. J., Stapleton, J. G. et al. (2008). 'Designing, implementing, and evaluating a media campaign illustrating the bystander role.' *Journal of prevention & intervention in the community* 36(1–2): 39.
- Powell, A. (2010). *Sex, Power and Consent: Youth Culture and the Unwritten Rules*. Melbourne, Cambridge University Press.
- Powell, A. and Imbesi R. (2008). 'Preventing sexual violence? Issues in program evaluation'. Young People, Crime and Community Safety: engagement and early intervention. Australian Institute of Criminology International Conference. Melbourne.
- Rayburn, N. R., Mendoza, M. et al. (2003). 'Bystanders' perceptions of perpetrators and victims of hate crime: An investigation using the person perception paradigm.' *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 18(9): 1055.
- Rigby, K. (2003). Stop the bullying: a handbook for schools, Acer Press.
- Rigby, K. and Johnson B. (2004a). 'Bystander Behaviour of South Australian Schoolchildren Observing Bullying and Sexual Coercion.' Available at:

 www.education.unisa.edu.au/bullying/FocusOnBystanders.pdf
- Rigby, K. and Johnson B. (2004b). 'Students as Bystanders to Sexual Coercion.' *Youth Studies, Australia* 23: 11–6.
- Rigby, K. and B. Johnson (2005). 'Student bystanders in Australian schools.' *Pastoral Care in Education* 23(2): 10–16.
- Rigby, K. and B. Johnson (2006). 'Expressed readiness of Australian schoolchildren to act as bystanders in support of children who are being bullied.' *Educational Psychology* 26(3): 425–440.
- Rosenthal, A. M. (1964). *Thirty-eight witnesses: the Kitty Genovese case*. Berkeley, University of California Press.
- Sanday, P. R. (1996). 'Rape-prone versus rape-free campus cultures.' *Violence Against Women* 2(2): 191.
- Sanday, P. R. (2007). Fraternity gang rape: Sex, brotherhood, and privilege on campus, NYU Press.
- Saucier, D., Miller, C. & Doucet, N. (2005), 'Differences in helping whites and blacks: A meta-analysis'. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 9(1), pp. 2–16.
- Schachter, S. (1951). 'Deviation, rejection, and communication'. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 46(2):190-207.

- Schewe, P. A. (2007). 'Interventions to prevent sexual violence.' *Handbook of injury and violence prevention*: 223–240.
- Schwartz, M. D. (2005). 'The past and the future of violence against women.' *Journal of interpersonal violence* 20(1): 7.
- Schwartz, M. D. and De Keseredy W. S. (1997). *Sexual assault on the college campus: The role of male peer support*, Sage Publications, Inc.
- Schwartz, M. D. and De Keseredy W. S. (2000). 'Aggregation Bias and Woman Abuse.' *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 15(6): 555–565.
- Schwartz, M. D. and De Keseredy W. S. (2008). 'Interpersonal Violence Against Women: The Role of Men.' *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice* 24(2): 178.
- Schwartz, M. D., De Keseredy, W. S. et al. (2001). 'Male peer support and a feminist routing activities theory: Understanding sexual assault on the college campus.' *Justice Quarterly* 18(3): 623–649.
- Silverschanz, P., Cortina, L. M. et al. (2008). 'Slurs, Snubs, and Queer Jokes: Incidence and Impact of Heterosexist Harassment in Academia.' *Sex Roles* 58(3): 179–191.
- Skogan, W. (1986). 'Fear of crime and neighborhood change.' Crime & Just. 8: 203.
- Slaby, R. G., Wilson-Brewer, R., and De Vos, E. (1994). *Aggressors, Victims and Bystanders: An Assessment-Based Middle School Violence Prevention Curriculum.* Final Report of Grant R494CCR103559 funded by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Newton, MA: Education Development Center.
- Stanko, E. A. (2006). 'Theorizing About Violence: Observations From the Economic and Social Research Council's Violence Research Program.' *Violence Against Women* 12(6): 543.
- State Government of Victoria (2008). *ENOUGH campaign*. www.familyviolence.vic.gov.au/Home, Accessed 02 March 2011.
- State Government of Victoria (2009), A Right to Respect: Victoria's Plan to Prevent Violence Against Women 2010–2020. Melbourne, State Government of Victoria.
- Stead, M., Tagg, S. et al. (2005). 'Development and evaluation of a mass media Theory of Planned Behaviour intervention to reduce speeding.' *Health Education Research* 20(1): 36.
- Street, A. E., Gradus, J. L. et al. (2007). 'Gender differences in experiences of sexual harassment: Data from a male-dominated environment.' *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology* 75(3): 464–473.
- Stueve, A., Dash, K. et al. (2006). 'Rethinking the bystander role in school violence prevention.' Health Promotion Practice 7(1): 117.
- Suedfeld, P. (2000). 'Reverberations of the Holocaust fifty years later: Psychology's contributions to understanding persecution and genocide.' *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie canadienne* 41(1): 1–9.

- Sutton, A., Cherney, A. and White, R. (2008) *Crime prevention: principles, perspectives and practices.*Port Melbourne, Cambridge University Press.
- Tay, R. (2005). 'The effectiveness of enforcement and publicity campaigns on serious crashes involving young male drivers: Are drink driving and speeding similar?' *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 37(5): 922–929.
- Taylor, N. and Mouzos J. (2006). Two Steps Forward, One Step Back: Community Attitudes to Violence Against Women. Progress and challenges in creating safe and healthy environments for Victorian women. A summary of findings. Melbourne, VicHealth.
- Taylor, N., Mouzos, et al. J. (2006). *Community attitudes to violence against women survey: A full technical report*, Melbourne: VicHealth.
- Tewksbury, R. and Mustaine E. E. (2003). 'College Students' Lifestyles and Self-Protective Behaviors: Further Considerations of the Guardianship Concept in Routine Activity Theory.' *Criminal Justice and Behavior* 30(3): 302.
- Twemlow, S. W. (2000). 'The roots of violence: Converging psychoanalytic explanatory models for power struggles and violence in schools.' *Psychoanalytic Quarterly* 69(4): 741–785.
- Twemlow, S. W., Fonagy, P. et al. (2004). 'The role of the bystander in the social architecture of bullying and violence in schools and communities.' *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1036(1): 215.
- Ullman, S. E. (2007). 'A 10-Year Update of Review and Critique of Empirical Studies of Rape Avoidance'. *Criminal Justice and Behavior* 34(3): 411.
- Unger, D. G., and Wandersman, A. (1982). 'Neighbouring in an urban environment'. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 10(5):493-509.
- University of Arizona (2011). STEP UP! A Prosocial Behavior/Bystander Intervention Program for Students. Available at: www.stepupprogram.org/
- URCOT (2005). Safe at Work? Women's Experiences of Violence in the Workplace Summary Report of Research September 2005. Melbourne, Department for Victorian Communities.
- VCCAV (Victorian Community Council Against Violence) (2004). *Family Violence is a Workplace Issue*. Melbourne, Department of Justice, Government of Victoria.
- VicHealth (2004). *The health costs of violence: Measuring the burden of disease caused by intimate partner violence. A summary of findings.* Melbourne, Victorian Heath Promotion Foundation.
- VicHealth (2006). Two Steps Forward, One Step Back. Community attitudes to violence against women. Progress and challenges in creating safe and healthy environments for Victorian women. Melbourne, Victorian Heath Promotion Foundation.
- VicHealth (2007). Preventing Violence Before it Occurs: A framework and background paper to guide the primary prevention of violence against women in Victoria. Melbourne, Victorian Heath Promotion Foundation.

- VicHealth (2009) *VicHealth Strategy and Business Plan 2009–2013*. Melbourne, Victorian Health Promotion Foundation.
- VicHealth (2010). National Survey on Community Attitudes to Violence Against Women 2009.

 Changing cultures, changing attitudes preventing violence against women. A summary of findings. Melbourne, Victorian Heath Promotion Foundation.
- Voelpel, S. C., Eckhoff, R. A. et al. (2008). 'David against Goliath? Group size and bystander effects in virtual knowledge sharing.' *Human Relations* 61(2): 271.
- Ward, K. J. (2001). *Mentors in Violence Prevention Program evaluation 1999–2000*. Unpublished report, Northeastern University. Boston, MA.
- Warshaw, P. R., and Davis, F. D. (1985). Disentangling behavioral intention and behavioral expectation. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 21(3):213-228.
- Weisz, A. N. and Black B. M. (2001). 'Evaluating a sexual assault and dating violence prevention program for urban youths.' *Social Work Research* 25(2): 89–100.
- Weisz, A. N. and Black B. M. (2008). 'Peer Intervention in Dating Violence: Beliefs of African-American Middle School Adolescents.' *Journal of Ethnic And Cultural Diversity in Social Work* 17(2): 177–196.
- Whitaker, D. J., Hall, D. M. et al. (2009). *Primary Prevention of Intimate Partner Violence: Toward a Developmental, Social-Ecological Model.* New York, Oxford.
- Whitaker, D. J., Morrison, S. et al. (2006). 'A critical review of interventions for the primary prevention of perpetration of partner violence.' *Aggression and Violent Behavior* 11(2): 151–166.
- White, M., Glonek, G. et al. (2000). *Re-investigation of the effectiveness of the Victorian TAC's road safety campaigns*, Australian Transport Council.
- Whitzman, C. (2009). *GLOVE Final Report: Gender, Local Governance, and Violence Prevention: Making the Links.* University of Melbourne, Australia.
- Wilson, J. P. and Petruska R. (1984). 'Motivation, model attributes, and prosocial behavior.' *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 46(2): 458–468.
- World Health Organization (2002). World report on violence and health. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization and Butchart A. (2004). *Preventing Violence: A Guide to Implementing the Recommendations of the World Report on Violence and Health*. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- Yeater, E. A. and O'Donohue W. (1999). 'Sexual assault prevention programs Current issues, future directions, and the potential efficacy of interventions with women.' *Clinical Psychology Review* 19(7): 739–771.



Victorian Health Promotion Foundation (VicHealth) PO Box 154 Carlton South 3053 Australia T. +61 3 9667 1333 F. +61 3 9667 1375 vichealth@vichealth.vic.gov.au www.vichealth.vic.gov.au

ISBN: 978-1-921822-18-6

May 2011

Publication Number: P-052-V_B

